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Skellerup Holdings is a specialist 
manufacturer and distributor of 
technical polymer products and 
vacuum pumps for a variety  
of specialist industrial and 
agricultural applications. 

Founded more than 100 years ago, 
today Skellerup is a global company 
headquartered in New Zealand,  
with operations in Asia, Europe, 
North America and Australasia.
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Operating revenue up 7.1% 
to $207.3 million

Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) 
up 22.1% to $24.7 million

Operating Cash Flow $25.3 million

Net Debt reduced from  
$9.1 million to $4.3 million

Final Dividend of 5 cents per 
share (fully imputed) payable  
25 October 2012

Key  
points

(million)$207.3
ReVenue

UP 7.1%

(cents per share)5.0
FInAl  
DIVIDenD

UP 25%

(million)$24.7
npAt

UP 22.1%
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 2011 %

$000 $000 change

operating Revenue 207,313 193,593 7.1%

trading eBItDA 43,660 39,518 10.5%

trading eBIt 36,594 32,227 13.6%

Surplus before tax 34,894 29,560 18.0%

taxation 10,229 9,360 9.3%

Surplus after tax for year 24,665 20,200 22.1%

operating Cash Flow 25,330 31,022 (18.3%)

total Assets 174,762 173,931

total liabilities 53,390 63,606

net Assets 121,372 110,325

earnings per share 12.8c 10.5c 21.8%

Dividends per share 8.0c 6.0c 33.3%

total shares on issue 192,805,807 192,805,807

Year on year 
comparative table
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The result is a credit to Skellerup 
management and staff across six 
continents and particularly our 
employees at the Woolston site  
in Christchurch.

OvERvIEw
The benefits from the transformation of Skellerup into a focused 
international manufacturer and supplier of high quality products can 
clearly be seen in our record-breaking performance for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2012. As Skellerup financial accounts demonstrate,  
the company is in the best shape it has been for many years creating  
a strong platform for further growth.

The result is a credit to Skellerup management and 720 staff across six 
continents and particularly the 230 employees at the Woolston Site in 
Christchurch. Everyone has embraced the Skellerup shift in direction, 
from a highly indebted cluster of businesses characterised by low growth 
to our present vigorous state. And in doing so, they have contributed 
to the delivery of a very good result for shareholders during one of the 
most difficult economic periods of our time.

Today, Skellerup is a company with high quality products across 
both its divisions with considerable potential. Its strong performance 
highlights the organic growth opportunities that can be generated from 
the Skellerup asset base by focusing on customers, the supply chain 
and production capability. By getting closer to customers we get to 
understand their real needs. By reducing lead times and delivering faster 
in smaller quantities the business is meeting customer requirements. 
Moreover, the ability to innovate and develop new products has won 
new customers across many business units. All these factors have helped 
Skellerup succeed despite the lingering economic downturn.

Looking forward, the company will continue its strategy of investing in 
developing new sales channels and opportunities – not only in existing 
markets, but also in emerging new markets such as China and South 
America. With net debt now at an historic low of $4.3 million, Skellerup 
has the balance sheet capacity to continue investing in its operations 
and deliver on growth prospects.

FINANCIAl OvERvIEw
The culmination of the strong earnings generated across both operating 
divisions saw net profit after tax (NPAT); including a one-off insurance 
benefit of $0.4 million, increase 22.1% to a record $24.7 million. 

Looking over a three-year period, NPAT has grown at a compound 
annual growth rate of approximately 40% reflecting the success of the 
transition of Skellerup into the company it is today.

This strong earnings growth continues to flow through to the group’s 
balance sheet with a further reduction in group debt to $4.3 million 
which in turn led to an improvement in the percentage of debt to  
debt-plus-equity from 7.6% to 3.4%. Net cash generated from 
operating activities was $25.3 million.

Profit was generated off revenue for the period under review of 
$207.3 million – an increase of 7.1%. The key feature here is that the 
sales came from a smaller range of products and a focus on product 
development – part of a strategy to identify what we do well and to 
grow sales through customer driven product innovation requirements. 
This focus on operational improvement along with attention to lowering 
costs led to better margins. Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) was 
up across both divisions and stood at $36.6 million, up 13.6%. Earnings 
per share was 12.8 cents, up 21.8% on a year earlier.

Report of the Chairman 
and the Chief executive
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DIvISIONAl RESUltS
Industrial Division – New Zealand’s largest industrial rubber products 
supplier with customers in more than 30 countries – performed above 
expectations with EBIT up 14.1% at $22.9 million on sales for the year 
of $133.1 million (up 6.9%). This performance reflected continued 
growth in the sale of industrial vacuum pumps to trucking companies 
that service the North American oil and natural gas exploration markets. 
Demand for industrial vacuum pumps has been driven by an increase 
in exploration activity due to the relatively high oil price. A continued 
focus on production efficiencies in China (where the pumps are 
manufactured), and the logistics of shipping to the US, has enabled 
a more consistent supply of product which in turn has allowed better 
service to existing customers as well as the winning of new business 
from our competitors.

The new generation Flexiflo product has provided strong growth on the 
back of the continuing demand for iron ore out of Western Australia. 
As a result of working closely with mining engineers, the introduction 
of our latest product (Flexiflo II) has addressed the challenge of moving 
especially wet and sticky ore. Flexiflo II has been very well received in 
the market and is the basis of further development for resolving issues 
relating to the movement of a wider range of mined minerals.

SIR SElwYN 
CUSHING 
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Sales of the Deks Industries (DEKS) branded roofing flashings and 
plumbing products into the Australian market has been increasingly 
competitive given a less than buoyant home building and 
improvements market. While good progress continues to be made  
in the development of motor vehicle drive shaft couplings, as well as 
other motor industry technical products such as gas conversion kits,  
the slowdown in European economies, as they grapple with the  
ongoing fallout from the financial crisis, has seen sales into these 
markets flatten off.

Outlook for Industrial – The pumps business depends on future 
exploration for shale oil and gas in the US market. Currently there is a 
stockpile of gas so there has been a slowdown, however our expectation 
is that the demand for gas will increase so the prospects look good for a 
return to both higher production and more exploration from which we 
will benefit.

Over the coming year we will continue to expand DEKs product 
distribution into the US. In addition Gulf Rubber now has a dedicated 
sales and distribution operation trading in that market. Our aim is to 
capitalise on any economic pick-up in the US market.

The Agri Division – which manufactures and distributes products for 
the global dairy industry – recorded an 11.1% increase in EBIT of  
$19.0 million on revenue of $74.1 million (up 7.4%). This result 
reflected ongoing demand for its consumable products from the dairy 
industry. After a solid start for the year the second six months has seen 
stronger competition in some segments of the international market 
place as the dairy industry became more cautious with milk prices 
internationally moving lower.

However, the Agri Division continues to benefit from the fact that a 
majority of its products are essential consumables for the dairy industry. 
In addition, there is increasing interest in Agri Division’s product range 
from developing markets in China and South America.

Outlook for Agri – Our consumable products, by their nature, will 
ensure ongoing demand but we are mindful of the cyclical nature of 
the global dairy industry and commodity pricing. We have adequate 
production capacity ready to meet expected demand when commodity 

prices recover. Quatro gumboot penetration into the US is taking longer 
than we expected but there continues to be increasing interest in our 
footwear product range in the US as well as in the UK and Europe.

Looking forward, one of the key initiatives for this division is continuing 
to assist our customers comply with the increasing regulatory demands 
associated with higher food handling standards around the world 
for products that come into contact with food during collection and 
processing. This will provide us with opportunities to innovate with new 
formulations and materials that meet these higher standards.

CHRIStCHURCH UPDAtE
The manufacturing plant in Woolston is a key part of the Agri 
division. Due to earthquake related damage and liquefaction risk, 
we are negotiating to relocate this business to a new site within the 
Christchurch region. Without doubt the shift to new premises will be a 
major undertaking which we expect to happen over a two year period. 
To facilitate the move, a new state of the art rubber mixing plant has 
been purchased (post 2012 financial year end) and capital has also 
been allocated for the manufacture of additional moulding machines to 
ensure that the business operation can relocate without interrupting the 
supply of finished products to customers. The introduction of the new 
rubber mixing plant will not only facilitate the move but will produce a 
high quality product more efficiently.

DIvIDEND
Skellerup dividend policy is to return to shareholders each year a total 
dividend payout of between 40% and 60% of NPAT. Accordingly, the 
directors have resolved to pay a final dividend of 5.0 cents per share 
with imputation credits attached at 28%. Payment will be made on  
25 October 2012 to shareholders on the register at 5pm on 12 October 
2012. Given the strong financial position of the company, the Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan will not be operative for this dividend payment. 
Along with the March 12 interim dividend of 3.0 cents per share,  
the total dividend payout for the financial year ending 30 June 2012  
is 8.0 cents per share. This represents 62.5% of NPAT.

Given our success in driving growth 
from existing operations, one focus  
in the year ahead will be to invest in 
further organic growth opportunities.
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CONClUDING COMMENtS
Skellerup has performed exceedingly well to the benefit of all 
shareholders. This has been reflected not only in stronger earnings and 
a higher dividend payout but also in share price appreciation. Whilst 
economic conditions, particularly in Europe, remain difficult, Skellerup 
has proved that earnings performance can still be achieved through 
leadership, product innovation and an understanding of the markets 
in which it operates. Given our success in driving growth from existing 
operations, one focus in the year ahead will be to invest in further 
organic growth opportunities. Whilst we expect earnings growth in the 
current financial year, the real benefits of this investment are likely to be 
seen in subsequent years.

David Mair
Chief Executive  

Sir Selwyn Cushing
Chairman

DAvID MAIR 
Chief Executive 

160

170

180

190

200

210 $207.3$207.3$207.3

$193.6

$180.7$180.9

SALES

N
Z 

D
ol

la
r M

ill
io

ns

2009 2010 2011 2012 

Years

SALES BY REGION 2011/12

Other

2%

Asia

4%

UK & Ireland

6%

Europe

11%
North America

23%

Australia

30%

New Zealand

24%

7
SKELLERUP AnnUAL REPoRt 2012



With tough economic conditions 
forecast for our key markets in the 
coming years, it’s going to be hard  
to grow sales in the usual way. 
Regardless, we fully intend to grow 
sales – through innovation.

Skellerup  
Business Approach

INNOvAtION IN PRODUCt AND PROCESS 
For Skellerup, innovation is not about simply creating new products 
and taking them to market. Skellerup’s approach, though being 
implemented in uncertain times, is solidly grounded, and based on:

•	 Customer driven product innovation

•	 Process driven innovation: simplification

Innovation in these areas must be pragmatic. It is about building on 
proven results rather than hunches, estimates or best guesses.

CUStOMER DRIvEN INNOvAtION
We take a three step approach to new product innovation. First, the new 
product must solve a real problem. Either it is a genuine problem: or we 
are talking to the wrong person. We must talk to many customers to be 
sure that we have identified a genuine problem to solve. 

The second step is the value equation: we have to define what the 
solution is really worth to the prospective customer. 

Third, we establish the minimum viable product (MVP) – the product 
with the least functionality that will solve the problem and be 
acceptable to customers. We do this by engaging with more customers 
to prove that the value we’ve established holds up in the wider market.

Also, as part of that engagement, we aim to get early commitment 
from prospective customers, in exchange for preferential delivery,  
or even exclusivity, come production time. 

StAFF DRIvEN INNOvAtION: 
SIMPlIFYING PROCESSES
To be more productive, staff need to be able to spend more time on the 
things that have a positive financial influence on the company and less 
on doing things that don’t make a difference.

This is about simplifying processes and standardisation, whether it’s 
moving more of the sale and payments processes into electronic form, 
or how products are made and delivered.

A prime example has been the introduction of a ‘replenishment’ 
approach into the industrial pumps business over the last 18 months. 
Thinking in terms of replenishment required a change in mind-set  
of all the staff involved, but the transformation has delivered 
outstanding results.

Previously, staff spent time forecasting and planning on a monthly basis 
and managing shipping, excess inventory and stock outs, late deliveries 
and outstanding orders, as well as many other issues. But despite their 
best efforts, our own US distributor Masport Inc (MINC) used to be at 
least five months behind in deliveries; the Jiangsu factory in China was 
manufacturing products no longer required; and the products MINC did 
want were not being made quickly enough.

This led to increasing levels of back orders, increasing levels of 
frustration and created a lot of re-work.

Taking a replenishment approach means that rather than forecasting 
demand and manufacturing to that forecast, production is now driven 
by actual weekly sales demand.

Now, orders arrive at Skellerup’s Jiangsu plant at the same time every 
week and goods are shipped out every week. With regular weekly orders 
and deliveries there are fewer outstanding orders and production is 
on schedule; fewer parts and supplies shortages occur in the factory; 
and staff spend less time retrieving supplies and inventory from the 
warehouse or external suppliers.

8
SKelleRup BuSIneSS AppRoACH



Meanwhile at MINC in Nebraska, instead of spending six to seven  
hours a month forecasting pump sales, staff spend about 45 minutes  
a week producing actual orders and delivery lead time has dropped  
from months to weeks.

Although seemingly counter-intuitive, a higher rate of transactions in 
practice means that staff are much more productive in procurement 
than before. Rather than spending time forecasting, planning (and  
re-planning) and dealing with outstanding orders, they are now more 
able to pick up problems earlier, or work on activities that deliver more 
value to the business.

The replenishment approach, a form of Just In Time (JIT) management, 
is being rolled out to other areas of the Skellerup business. (See sidebar)

Replenishment delivers 
the goods at Woolston

The replenishment approach  
has been introduced to raw 
materials sourcing at the 
Skellerup Woolston site,  
in close co-operation with  
the company’s suppliers.

Previously procurement was seen as more art than science. 
This resulted in imbalances in material holdings.

Focusing on just 20-25 key stock items, Supply Chain 
Manager James Makoni and his team established lead time 
commitments with suppliers that would provide on time 
delivery, 95% of the time.

Also, rather than sticking to once a month ordering, by 
monitoring factory production levels on a weekly basis, staff 
can spot a run on an item and promptly re-order, to help avoid 
stock outs.

By removing much of the uncertainty from the raw materials 
supply process, the team has realised a permanent $1.5m+ 
reduction in raw materials holdings while virtually eliminating 
stock out situations. At the same time, with a much simplified 
and more transparent process, staff can be more engaged 
in procurement, the quality of their decisions is better, and 
they take less time than before. And where the warehouse 
was at one time crammed with raw materials, now there 
is ample room.

James says that a further significant benefit is in the way staff 
have developed through adopting a different way of thinking. 
“As their understanding and ownership of the processes has 
improved, and we’ve seen solid benefits, they’ve gained a 
sense of pride in their work.”

Now that some raw materials procurement has been reined in 
through the replenishment approach, the supply chain team 
is rolling this out to other raw materials and picking off other 
categories of products, to bring these into line too, says James.

A Masport VK 650 air cooled vacuum and pressure pump installed on  
a liquid transfer trailer unit operating in the United States
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OvERvIEw
Operating in all major global markets, as well as emerging markets 
in Asia and South America, Agri is the second largest dairy rubber 
supplier in the world.

Skellerup products are renowned for their high reliability and 
performance. Skellerup has also long been known as an innovator 
in dairy related products, ranging for dairy consumables to footwear 
and vacuum pumps. Skellerup products occupy a strong position in 
the market due to their technical sophistication, design, formulation 
and quality.

FINANCIAlS
With sales up 7.4% on the prior year, and EBIT up 11.1% to  
$19.0 million, the Agri Division had a particularly good year.

Although milk commodity prices have fallen over recent months, the 
improved prices enjoyed earlier in the year stimulated additional farm 
cash flows, some of which has been invested in new milking equipment. 
This particularly helped the OEMs with their milking shed installations, 
and therefore provided Agri with the opportunity to support the OEMs 
with additional dairy rubberware.

The increasing global demand for milk products has also been reflected 
in new customer demand from developing markets in South America 
and China.

The local market performed strongly. Agri’s close relationships with 
rural distribution networks were a significant factor in this success. Both 
footwear and dairy rubberware performed well, with new products being 
distributed to this network.

Agri continues to work with rural distributors to help farmers understand 
the benefits of changing liners, tubing and milk filters regularly so as to 
produce a consistently high quality milk product and thereby maximise 
their returns. This quality message has also provided the opportunity for 
Agri to promote the benefits and features of our product range. 

PRODUCtS
Skellerup products are renowned worldwide for high quality, reliability 
and performance. Skellerup is also well known as an innovator in dairy 
related products.

In recent years we have become more proactive in demonstrating to 
customers our specialised skillsets and technical capabilities in product 
design and development. In addition, increasing health standards, 
applicable to any product which comes in contact with food for humans, 
require constant evaluation and the development of new polymer 
compounds. We are proud of our ability to support our global customers 
to achieve compliance with these food grade standards, in their 
respective world markets.

Not only has our technical formulation activity provided a sustainable 
point of difference for Skellerup, but we have also assisted a number of 
our international OEM partners to develop new products that provide 
them with a competitive edge in the market. Over the last 12 months 
we have introduced our technical offerings to all of our customers and 
worked with many of them. We expect that this initiative will result 
in a stream of new products in the coming years, as our relationships 
strengthen with these OEM customers.
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Skellerup Agri Division (Agri) 
manufactures and distributes products 
for the dairy industry for all of the 
leading global and regional dairy 
industry Original Equipment 
Manufacturers (OEM’s), as well as 
providing branded product for many 
leading dairy industry distributors.

Agri  
Division

VACpluS SQuARe lIneRS

 

Anti-slip barrel milking liner increases  
air-flow & enhances milk flow
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Vacuum shut-off groove
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In New Zealand, a number of new products have begun to flow  
into the market and deliver increasing revenues. Chief among these  
are the Vacplus Square dairy liner, the Silicone dairy liner and the  
Quatro range of gumboots, which is supported by its own  
website www.skellerup.co.nz/quatro/. 

 New products in our footwear range include the new Quatro Safety 
gumboot, which has additional protection features, including a 
ComfortForm steel toecap and a new 360 SureGrip outsole that is oil, 
acid and heat resistant.

Certified to meet New Zealand, Australian, United Kingdom and United 
States safety standards, the boot has been launched in all of those 
markets through dedicated distribution channels. The boot is aimed at 
people working in industries that present challenging ground conditions, 
such as infrastructure, plumbing, drainlaying, construction and mining.

Internationally also, product developed in recent years has begun 
to enter the dairy channel. For example a range of products to help 
manage stock health, under the Ambic brand, is recording increasing 
penetration in the US market, as well through their established markets 
in the UK, Ireland and Europe.

Meanwhile our distribution arm in the US, Conewango Products, has 
been working through changes to technical aspects of its current 
products. New ranges are undergoing field trials and will come to market 
this year. Indications to date have been very positive.

PRODUCtION/OPERAtIONS
Over the last year Skellerup has expanded its injection moulding 
capabilities in Christchurch to fulfil the growing manufacturing demand 
driven by growth in sales worldwide. This has given us the ability to 
be more responsive to variable customer demand. In particular this 
expansion will meet additional customer requirements in the dairy liner 
market, where Skellerup is one of only a very few companies worldwide 
with the expertise to manufacture high quality dairy liners.

As rural distribution in New Zealand moves towards shorter lead 
times and smaller order quantities, we have recognised the need to 
be more flexible and responsive to changes in customer purchasing 
requirements. As a result we have begun to work more closely with rural 
distributors to improve trading forecasts so we can respond more quickly 
to variable demand and meet delivery to expectations. Also, we have 
investigated and implemented improved communications, including the 
use of electronic data interchange (EDI), with our key customers.

Our ongoing education initiative, to encourage more farmers to 
recognise the benefits of improved milk quality and greater financial 
returns by changing milk filters after each milking, has resulted in a 
strong lift in milk filter sales . With the main distribution of milk filters in 
NZ being through the rural multi-store distribution network, this product 
has further strengthened the relationships with this customer network.

The Skellerup footwear manufacturing operation, based in Baochang, 
Jiangsu Province, P.R China, continues to be involved in the development 
of new styles of gumboots which meet technical requirements for the 
US and NZ markets. 

OUtlOOk
With consumable products for the dairy industry forming a key part of 
its revenues, Agri is cushioned from short term shifts in discretionary 
income. However as milk prices have moved lower we have seen 
increased competition in some markets. The impact of this trend will 
be offset by our growing returns in markets such as China and South 
America and we are seeing increasing growth in our footwear business 
in the US and Europe. At the same time our material and product 
development abilities will help drive increased revenues from existing 
and new customers.

QuAtRo CAMo QuAtRo SAFety QuAtRo oRIGInAl

11
SKELLERUP AnnUAL REPoRt 2012



“We have taken the time to get it right,  
carefully engineering all aspects of  
the work boots from the triple-stitched, 
glued seams to the 1000N breaking 
strain laces.”

NEw RED BAND wORk BOOt HElPS  
kIwIS GEt INtO It, BOOtS AND All
Red Band gumboots are a New Zealand rural icon and now Skellerup is 
extending the brand’s guaranteed quality and reliability into leather work 
boots. Four styles of Red Band leather work boots, designed specifically for 
tough, rural New Zealand conditions, are to be released during October in 
rural retailers.

“Farmers have been asking us for some time to introduce a Red Band leather 
work boot and we have listened,” Skellerup National Manager, Footwear 
Perry Davis says.

“Over the last 18 months, Red Band work boots have been tried and tested in 
all types of farming conditions and we are pleased with the results,” he says. 

“We have taken the time to get it right, carefully engineering all aspects of 
the work boots from the triple-stitched, glued seams to the 1000N breaking 
strain laces.”

Sheep farmer Brian Holley tried the work boots on his farm near Kerikeri in the 
Far North. “These boots have been fantastic on all the land I work on. They 
are probably the most comfortable work boots I have worn,” Holley says. 

“They have minimal break in time and seemed to have very little wear, 
considering the amount of use I have given them. 

“The work boots also have great support, especially for a slip-on boot.”

Cambridge dry stock farmer Steve van der Valk says the Red Band work 
boots are the best boots he has ever owned. “They didn’t have to break in 
like other boots I have had,” van der Valk says. “Before long they just felt as 
though they were part of me.

“The work boots have fantastic grip on all the surfaces I work on.  
I absolutely love ‘em.”

Kerry Bayliss farms a sheep and beef property near Taumarunui in the King 
Country and he trialled the boots this year. “These are the most comfortable 
and useful work boots I have worn. I find the lace-locking system for these 
work boots easy to use and they are very water resistant and robust,” he says.

Like all Skellerup gumboots, the Red Band work boots are made to fit  
New Zealanders’ specific foot shapes, being typically wider than in other 
parts of the world. 

new Red Band  
Work Boot

tHE kEY tO RED BAND wORk BOOtS’  
qUAlItY AND DURABIlItY IS:
•	 The full-grain, heavy gauge buffalo leather upper makes the boots 

long-lasting, hard-wearing and comfortable. 

•	 Triple-stitched seams provide strength and integrity in the work boots’ 
structure and the heel is contoured for extra support.

•	 The twin-layer, scuff-resistant toe guard ensures the boots stand up to 
New Zealand’s tough outdoor working conditions. 

•	 The Red Band brand is an enduring one – 54 years old this year – and 
products carrying this iconic name are high quality and reliable.

•	 The lightweight outsole of the work boot is made from hard-wearing 
stippled polyurethane to resist abrasion. Maximum grip is achieved for 
wearers due to a special self-releasing, anti-clog tread pattern which 
prevents mud and debris building up on the sole.

•	 As Kiwi farmers put maximum effort into their work they don’t want to  
be concerned about sore feet. Inside the Skellerup Red Band work boot 
there’s a removable comfort innersole with ventilation zones to reduce 
foot fatigue. 

•	 An anti-microbial layer in the innersole helps to reduce odour in the  
work boots.

•	 The reinforced internal structure of the work boot is a unique design. 
There’s a shock-absorbing polyurethane mid-sole for increased support 
and comfort, and a steel shank for underfoot stability and strength.

•	 For the lace-up styles, a padded leather tongue and collar on the work 
boot provides cushioned comfort, while a speed lacing system makes it 
easy to quickly pull on and take off the work boots. A locking ‘D’ ring in 
the lacing system provides a secure fit and maximum support where it’s 
needed around the ankle.

•	 For the slip-on styles, a double-layered, high quality memory-elastic 
ensures a comfortable fit is maintained through the life of the work boots.

•	 The safety work boot styles incorporate a steel toe cap for protection.

•	 Every pair of Skellerup boots is hand-inspected prior to despatch and 
backed by the Skellerup guarantee of quality.
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Case Study Dairy Best practice 
on the Web

The Skellerup new Dairy Best Practice 
website (dairybestpractice.co.nz) 
takes the Skellerup performance 
improvement message direct 
to dairy farmers. 

DAIRY BESt PRACtICE FROM wEB tO FARM
Paretai farmer Steve Booth has been dairying on the family’s 80-hectare 
farm for most of his life. He and his partner Melissa milk 120 Holstein 
Friesians at their dairy stud 365 days a year for town milk supply. The 
herd increases to 180 in the spring.

Spending time on Skellerup’s new Dairy Best Practice website late last 
year helped win Steve a $5000 farm optimisation package. He’s used 
the money to upgrade his rubberware, purchase new software to 
help with farm management, and to buy some new gumboots. Steve 
upgraded their 16-a-side herringbone shed to Skellerup’s Vacplus 
Square liner, from a competitor’s liner. “The Skellerup liners are marketed 
as interchangeable and that is exactly what we have experienced. There 
has been no downside to our change,” Steve says.

He’s also upgraded his gumboots, opting to switch his old reliable 
Perths for flash new Quatros, which he loves. “I pretty much live in my 
gumboots in the winter and the warmth of the Quatro is unbelievable. 
I used to have a sore back working on the concrete all day long and that 
is no longer the case. So I am less grumpy in the evenings!” Steve says. 
He used the rest of his Skellerup prize to replace his old manual records 
with a financial management software package and farm mapping 
software. The new farm software, Mindalink ‘Farmkeeper’, will help 
Steve improve feed utilisation and pasture growth.

In the past, his decisions have been more visual and hands-on. “You can 
gain instant, measured benefits when you start to record, measure and 
use technology to manage your pasture,” says Steve. “I’m now able 
to make more timely decisions on surplus growth. December in the 
south was one of the driest on record and we had to be sharper on the 
management of our pastures,” Steve says.

“I have been able to make better quality supplements for the winter 
because of this. It is probably a 10% improvement in pasture 
management. As a result, milk production is ahead of last year.”

In each area, Skellerup advice is backed up with hard evidence 
developed by researchers in New Zealand and around the 
world. Benefits are defined in economic terms, as well as 
reduced risk or other outcomes.

For instance, field trials conducted by QCONZ at Waikato 
Institute of Technology (WINTEC) provide compelling hygiene 
and financial arguments for using the Ambic vacuum operated 
teat spraying system over standard hand held teat sprayers.

In another area, work published by researchers in the Journal 
of Dairy Science shows the importance of changing dairy  
liners at least every 2,500 milkings to avoid potential milk 
quality downgrading.

While the website is attracting satisfactory visitor numbers, 
Skellerup staff are constantly working with partners to increase 
the website’s reach. One initiative under investigation is 
partnering with related farm materials or animal health 
product suppliers. By bringing other suppliers on-board 
Skellerup hope to turn dairybestpractice.co.nz into a preferred 
destination website for dairy farmers.
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FINANCIAlS
The Industrial Division weathered a number of ups and downs over 
the year, coming in ahead of target through a combination of good 
management and outstanding performance from the Flexiflo product 
line. Revenues for the year were up by 6.9% on the prior year, while 
EBIT increased 14.1% to $22.9 million.

Strong demand for industrial vacuum pumps, buoyed by continued 
oil and gas shale exploration in the United States, delivered record  
sales figures.

DEKS Industries (DEKS) was affected to a degree by the contraction 
in the Australian and New Zealand residential and light commercial 
construction markets and market stagnation in the US and UK, but 
management action helped it recover before year’s end.

The automotive market worldwide has yet to recover from the global 
recession, which in turn has hindered Gulf Rubber’s sales of drive 
shaft couplings. However this challenge was balanced by growth in 
other areas, including the gas market in Europe where Gulf Rubber’s 
Tumedei unit is in a relatively strong position. Despite its home market, 

Italy, facing serious economic problems, along with the rest of Europe, 
Tumedei was able to grow its business, while competitors were going 
backwards or closing.

Our New Zealand business units performed strongly despite tough 
economic conditions, largely due to continual improvement in 
customer-centric based product solutions.

The manufacture and sale of closed – cell polyethylene and ethyl vinyl 
acetate foam has been affected by a number of factors. However the 
decision to move the manufacturing of this product range to Vietnam 
will offset our main market challenges. 

PRODUCtS
During the year our North America distribution unit successfully 
launched a new industrial vacuum pump (the VK 650) following a  
five-year development programme. The VK 650 occupies a valuable 
niche in the US market and a smaller place in the Australian market.

The key products from our Italian business unit – componentry for the 
CNG and LPG gas market – had significant growth with one of the main 
players in the European market, while one of its specialised components 
– a unit that combines metal and rubber over-moulding, is creating 
interest from the wider international market.

A check valve product, developed within the Gulf Group over the last  
18 months, which is currently marketed in Australia and the US, is soon 
to be launched into the European market.

Flexiflo, a specialised product for the mining industry that substantially 
reduces the problem of clogging and wear in ore feed chutes, has now 
become a specified item for major iron ore producers in Australia. This 
year Skellerup released Flexiflo II, which addresses a particular need in 
situations where the iron ore is wet or sticky. Flexiflo II has specialised 
physical and chemical properties that give it better performance and 
greater durability in these conditions. Flexiflo and Flexiflo II now form 
the nucleus of a Skellerup product family that will likely be extended as 
new markets and needs are explored.

Skellerup is New Zealand’s largest 
industrial rubber products supplier. 
With customers in more than  
30 countries, manufacturing 
operations in New Zealand, Australia, 
Vietnam, China and Italy, and 
products for many sectors including 
automotive, electrical, mining and 
construction, Skellerup Industrial 
Division deserves its place amongst 
the leaders in the industry.
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A range of high specification componentry used in the electrical industry 
has been developed by Gulf Rubber in Australia. These products are 
used in modern smart grid electric power distribution. The products are 
being rolled out internationally and indications to date are for strong 
sales growth potential.

Meanwhile Gulf Rubber’s specialist drive shaft couplings continue to 
have success in the automotive market. These couplings are now used 
in high performance cars such as Maserati and will be installed in the 
upcoming Chevrolet Corvette due for release in 2014. A significant new 
opportunity is on the horizon that could see the Gulf Rubber couplings 
built into other prestige brand motor vehicles.

During the year DEKS’ management drove intensive product 
development based both on locally developed and imported products. 
The new lines extend the DEKS product range to better meet the  
needs of DEKS’ existing customers. And with a more comprehensive 
product set DEKS also became a more valuable supplier to its 
distribution partners.

Purpose designed 
for flashing the 
ductwork that 
support evaporative 
cooler units

Reduces on-site time 
for the installer

Ensures cooler unit 
remains watertight 
regardless of 
environmental 
conditions

Twenty year 
warranty

With lead time to market of several months, the first of the new product 
lines only became available in March, allowing DEKS to get back on 
target, but the revenue benefits of these new products will become 
more apparent in the new financial year.

New lines included new lead flashings that were readily available, 
supplied out of Asia, and a locally developed product, which was 
developed to meet a specific customer need. This new product, a 
specialty one-piece flashing for evaporative coolers, replaces a labour 
intensive process; cuts installation time from one hour down to  
10 minutes, and delivers a more weather proof outcome. The new 
product will be released in September this year.

MARkEtS
The US market continues to be very favourable for our industrial vacuum 
pumps. On-going oil and gas industry exploration has driven demand 
for these specialised vacuum pumps. This demand is expected to 
continue for some time to come.

Also in the US, Gulf Rubber is positioning itself to make a step change 
in sales volumes. A dedicated sales and distribution operation has been 
established, led by a senior manager appointed from within Gulf Rubber. 
Initially marketing and sales efforts will be focused on expanding the 
sale of Gulf Rubber products already in the US market such as its ductile 
iron pipe gaskets and its industrial components, but this range will soon 
be expanded.

The move also marks a shift in emphasis for Gulf Rubber to a marketing 
and sales orientated business unit.

To counter the challenging market conditions DEKS, by focusing on 
selling more product to its existing customer base, expanded its market 
share in Australasia, US and the UK. 

DEKS also made significant in-roads into the Latin America market 
especially in Mexico, Chile and Argentina, through extending its product 
range and being flexible in response to customer needs.

DRIVeSHAFt CouplInG

Used in most  
rear wheel and  
all 4 wheel drive  
vehicles

Absorbs torsional 
shocks for a smooth 
and quiet ride

Requires precision 
moulding involving 
rubber, nylon yarn  
and steel

Must allow  
cardanic motion

eVApoRAtIVe CooleR FlASHInG
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A standout example is its work with a major customer in Chile. 
When the customer requested a specialised washer to be used on a 
construction nail, DEKS obliged. On the back of its supply performance 
DEKS proposed supplying the nails. Finally, the customer agreed to 
have DEKS manage assembly and delivery of the fully assembled 
construction nail. By providing the value-add service of procurement and 
assembly, DEKS has created a solid revenue stream from this customer.

Flexiflo is now dominant in its primary market, the iron ore mining sector 
in Australia. The next step is for Industrial Division to develop markets 
for Flexiflo in other iron ore producing countries, such as China, Brazil, 
South Africa, India and Canada, and also in other mineral applications, 
such as bauxite, coal and gypsum. Planning is underway to build up 
resources to target specific markets in the coming year.

PRODUCtION/OPERAtIONS
Production of a flow control valve developed in-house has been 
moved from New Zealand to Vietnam. This is a continuation of the 
process to improve our business competitiveness. Increasingly, the 
New Zealand, Australian and Italian business units are operating as 
product development centres and small volume local suppliers, while 
the Vietnam contract manufacturing operation provides low-cost, high 
volume manufacturing capacity, allowing the Industrial Division to be 
more competitive on a global scale.

DEKS production continues to be carried out successfully through the 
Vietnam contract operation. This company’s performance won it the 
contract to take over production of our closed-cell foam requirements. 
The move to manufacturing in Vietnam will take effect by the end of 
the year. 

Flexiflo’s sales success has demanded increased production from the 
Christchurch plant. This extra output has been easily handled within the 
existing plant. As well as increasing productivity, the plant’s increased 
throughput has enabled reduced lead times.

Applying a replenishment approach to the industrial vacuum pump 
supply chain, stretching from China to the US, has had a significant 
positive impact on production. The new approach has cut delivery 

Sizes ranging from 
3” - 24” diameter 

Bonded in 
place stainless 
steel teeth to 
retain pipe location

Potable water 
approved 
for use with  
drinking water

lead time from months to an average of 28 days, which translates 
into more responsive and timely customer service as well as reduced 
administration time. Rationalisation of the pumps range has cut the 
number of models from 151 down to 74, with cost improvements 
still to come.

A development focus on the two largest vacuum pump sales groups, 
which together make up two thirds of total pump sales – has resulted 
in significant improvements in quality and reliability of both product 
groups, and a consequent reduction in product warranty claims.

OUtlOOk
The roof flashing and fastener markets in Latin America show promise, 
and we will continue to expand product distribution in the US. The 
response by DEKS to the tough market conditions in Australasia, US 
and the UK had a positive influence in this past years result and we look 
forward to this trend continuing in the coming year. The establishment 
during the year of the Gulf Rubber marketing and sales team in the 
US means we are well placed to capitalise on any economic pick up 
in the market for infrastructure related products, in particular, including 
pipe gaskets.

We believe our Flexiflo and Flexiflo II products have potential for sales 
growth in the wider world market in the coming year, having proved 
to be most effective in the iron ore producing regions of Australia.

On-going work on our industrial pump supply chain and the 
rationalisation of the pump range should continue to produce good 
outcomes through the coming year. While the oil and gas exploration 
market has cooled recently, we anticipate a resurgence in demand 
in the coming year.

Market weakness in some regions over the 2013 year may slow 
the growth of our industrial revenues. However our market and 
product development activities will have a positive influence, as 
will our continuing focus on building cost effective production and 
supply models.

DuAl HARDneSS pIpe GASKetS
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FlExIFlO SPREADS ItS wINGS
Skellerup Flexiflo is an ore chute lining system nine years in 
development. In the last three years it has become firmly established 
as an essential mine supply material in the giant Pilbara iron ore 
producing region in Australia. Flexiflo is now dominant in that market 
and significantly exceeded target revenues last year.

Flexiflo uses the flexibility and resilience of rubber to create a ‘live wall’ on 
the surface of the ore chute. Each Flexiflo module acts as a flexible hinge: 
as the ore hits the upper surface of the module, the rubber and hinge flex 
and then respond, to flick the ore away from the surface. This vigorous 
reaction virtually eliminates problems of wear and blockage in ore chutes.

FlExIFlO II – FOR wEt OR StICkY ORES
Skellerup’s work with mine engineers has resulted in the recent 
development of an addition to the Flexiflo product range. Flexiflo II, 
launched last year, addresses the challenge of especially sticky or wet ores. 
New design features and a new rubber composition give Flexiflo II greater 
flexibility as well as higher durability to cope with sticky and wet materials. 
In light of its demonstrated abilities, Flexiflo II has already been specified 
in procurement for a number of mine upgrades and new developments in 
the Pilbara region by mining giant BHP Billiton.

These two versions of Flexiflo may be just the start of a family of products 
designed to meet the needs of many other mined materials, including 
bauxite, gypsum and coal.

CUStOMER-DRIvEN DEvElOPMENt
Throughout Flexiflo’s development life, Skellerup staff have worked with 
mine engineers to refine both the mechanical characteristics and chemical 
properties of the product. In terms of mechanics, the profile of the module 
maximises its physical response as ore hits the upper surface. In terms of 
chemistry, Skellerup researchers have come up with a compound that is 
both flexible and hard-wearing – a very difficult combination. Meanwhile 
the overall size and weight of the module, and other built-in features, allow 
individual elements to be easily and quickly mounted on the chute surface 
by hand. This important aspect avoids the need for cranes or hoists and 
significantly speeds up replacement operations.

Skellerup Flexiflo ore 
chute lining system

Flexiflo modules form a ‘venetian 
blind’ effect covering the inner 
surface of an ore chute creating  
a resilient, responsive ‘live wall’.

Mine operators have a problem. In transporting ore for 
processing there is usually at least one point where the 
bulk material is tipped down a chute. With highly abrasive 
materials, such as iron ore, the chute lining can be quickly 
worn away, necessitating a production shutdown while the 
lining is replaced. Another problem is build-up of material on 
the surface of the chute. The build-up leads to clogging and 
blockages, which again necessitates a production shutdown.

Since mines are generally run on a 24/7 basis, any shutdown 
has a substantial financial impact. On top of this, there are 
significant health and safety risks associated with working in 
these confined spaces.

Case Study
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We have recorded yet another outstanding decrease in our serious harm/
lost time injuries rate 2011/2012 year over the previous year. At 0.91, 
Skellerup’s Total Injury Rate (TIR) is a 60% improvement (decrease)  
on the previous year’s TIR of 2.54, which itself was a record.

Meanwhile our achievement in reaching tertiary level in the ACC 
Partnership Program (ACCPP) for the past three years means we now 
undergo full site ACCPP audits only every two years, rather than annually. 
Accordingly the Audit in March this year only covered a review of our  
injury management processes over the previous 12 months rather than  
a full audit.

This is a clear reflection of the contributions and dedication in the 
businesses towards health and safety. Achieving a tertiary standard in the 
Partnership Program continuously not only creates a safer workplace, but 
also lowers operating costs and ACC levies in the long term.

While the ultimate goal of zero TIR is still a distant goal, the current result 
is impressive given the nature of our industry, with significant inherent 
risks in the manufacturing process.

This year Skellerup’s Health and Safety team has continued rolling 
out programmes that will contribute to our progress towards the zero 
TIR goal.

These include:

•	 Our Key Element Assessments (KEA) audits, that seek to enhance the 
effectiveness and efficiency with which work is carried out while 
minimising risk to employees

•	 Staff re-inductions

•	 Safemate awards

The steadily increasing KEA scores reported by our operations 
demonstrate their success in implementing their Health and Safety 
programmes.

Skellerup’s Conewango operation is the latest site to go through the KEA 
Audit process, and accomplished the highest debut score for any Skellerup 
business. Conewango’s KEA audit score of 2.98 came after an 18 month 
transformation, which required culture change for the organisation 
that goes beyond health and safety. The Conewango team successfully 

changed their way of thinking, as KEA is all about involving employees 
to look out for each other. Conewango started with a clean slate, 
implementing new health and safety procedures and processes including:

Health and safety inductions for all employees (within a week of 
engagement for new employees)

•	 A hazard register

•	 Person health and safety policies

•	 A health and safety information board in lieu of a manual

•	 Certification for the storage racks

•	 Safety pathways marked on the floor

Tumedei SPA’s KEA score of 3.52 indicates Skellerup’s Italy-based business 
unit is working diligently to improve its health and safety performance. 
Coming up from 1.68 in 2008, the latest result shows continuous 
improvement in health and safety processes and systems at Tumedei  
and a resultant change in culture.

Skellerup’s Woolston site in Christchurch returned a KEA audit score 
of 4.29 and Ultralon topped the table with a score of 4.45. These 
are outstanding results, considering the challenges that have been 
thrown Ultralon’s and Woolston’s way in the last 18 months, due to 
the earthquakes experienced in Christchurch.

StAFF INDUCtIONS
Skellerup’s Group Human Resources Manager Diane Evans and HR/Health 
and Safety Advisor Katherine Nguyen are currently rolling out staff  
re-induction training to all Skellerup businesses worldwide, having begun 
in Sydney. The intention of the sessions is help keep health and safety to 
the fore, to avoid the complacency that can arise once key health and 
safety targets are met.

Another part of the project is training sessions for managers and health 
and safety committees on risk assessment and accident/incident 
investigations. As the number of actual injuries declines, focusing on  
near-hit incidents will assist in reducing the risk of injuries and help 
Skellerup get closer to the zero TIR goal.

Health and  
Safety Report

Skellerups ongoing focus on health  
and safety management continues 
to deliver positive benefits. 0
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wAtER SAvINGS
At our Woolston plant, Project and Business Systems Manager Nick Steel 
led a team to implement equipment and process changes that have 
created permanent savings of more than 100 million litres of water 
each year. Given the real cost of water to the plant, these water savings 
translate directly to the bottom line.

The team identified major sources of waste and undertook projects to 
use rainwater to supplement town supply, and to recycle water.

For example, in the Continuous Vulcanisation (CV) department, two 
15,000-litre tanks, piping, filtration and pumps were installed to enable 
reuse/recycling of primary wash down water.

Overall, the CV department has returned more than a 75% saving  
in water usage, despite a doubling in operational hours over the last 
three years.

These significant savings drew the attention of local authorities who 
were sceptical that such savings were truly possible. When shown the 
facts they were highly impressed and complimented the team on  
their achievements.

ElECtRICItY SAvINGS
Over the last three years, the Woolston plant has found ways to reduce 
its electricity consumption by 2.1 million kilowatt-hours. This year alone, 
in five out of seven months, we have used fewer kilowatt hours per 
month than the same periods three years ago. In some months our 
energy usage is down 20%, while our staff numbers, equipment load 
and production hours have increased.

The substantially reduced water pumping requirements noted above 
contributed significantly to the reduced electricity usage. Other projects 
that made major contributions to savings include:

•	 Changing or modifying 68 hydraulic power packs on our Single 
Injection Moulding Machines to allow them to be switched off when 
not needed, rather than running all the time, for a saving of more 
than 500 kilowatt-hours of electricity every year

•	 Replacing a 300 kilowatt electric boiler that heats process oil with a 
25 kilowatt heat pump that draws only seven to nine kilowatt hours, 
resulting in more than 900,000 kilowatt hours of electricity saved 
every year. This saving alone paid for the equipment in just a matter 
of months!

ENvIRONMENtAl AwARENESS tRAINING
Part of the requirement for attaining the Environmental Management 
Standard ISO 14001:2004 is environmental awareness training for all 
employees. Staff at the Woolston site has participated in this training 
over the last two years, with the aim of raising environmental thinking 
around the site and developing ideas for minimising the company’s 
impact on the environment. “We’ve been getting good contributions 
from staff – especially our Electrical Supervisor, Tony Pauwels, who has 
been doing a great job. However we are always careful to balance 
implementation costs against the actual savings: all of our initiatives 
must deliver improvement to the bottom line as well as reduce our use 
of natural resources,” says Nick.

ENvIRONMENtAl MANAGEMENt At 
SkEllERUP’S JIANGSU FACIlItY
In our Jiangsu production plant we are taking the first steps towards 
improved environmental performance. This includes metering and 
recording in detail our usage of power and water across the factory.

Once baselines have been established, we will begin to identify 
opportunities for improvement, and to determine the priority order for 
projects, based on cost/benefit analysis.

environmental  
Report
Our focus this year remained on our 
Woolston plant, where we delivered 
phenomenal savings in water usage  
as well as substantial savings in 
electricity. Meanwhile roll out of  
our environmental management 
programme to other sites, delayed  
by the Christchurch earthquakes,  
has begun, with a focus on our  
China manufacturing operations.

19
SKELLERUP AnnUAL REPoRt 2012



Dr Ian Parton  
BE (Hons), Ph.D, 
DistFIPENZ, FIoD
Ian brings to the Board an extensive 
engineering background. He has 
considerable experience in strategic 
planning, global business development 
and corporate governance. Ian is 
currently a director of Auckland 
Transport Limited and Construction 

Techniques Limited. He is also a Councillor and Pro-Chancellor of the 
University of Auckland. Ian was previously Managing Director of 
consulting engineering firm Worley Group Limited (now AECOM) and 
Regional Development Director for AECOM. His previous directorships 
include Industrial Research Limited, Chairman of Babcock Fitzroy 
Limited and Deputy Chairmanship of Watercare Services Limited.  
Ian has a Ph.D. in engineering and is a Past-President of the Institution 
of Professional Engineers of NZ.

Elizabeth Coutts  
B.MS., C.A., Director
A former Chief Executive of Caxton 
Group, Elizabeth is a director of EBOS 
Group Limited, NZ Directories Holdings 
Limited, Ports of Auckland Limited, 
Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-operative 
Limited and Sanford Limited. She is 
also a director of Tennis Auckland 
Region Incorporated. Elizabeth has 

previously been Chairman of Meritec Group Limited, Industrial Research 
Limited and Life Pharmacy Limited; Deputy Chairman of the 
Public Trust; and a Commissioner of both the Commerce Commission 
and the Earthquake Commission. She has been a Director of the Health 
Funding Authority, PHARMAC; Air New Zealand Limited; Sport & 
Recreation New Zealand; and Trust Bank New Zealand; and a member 
of both the Financial Reporting Standards Board of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of New Zealand and the Monetary Policy 
Committee of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand.

David Mair 
BE MBA, Director and CEO
David’s background of international 
operations management experience 
provides an excellent fit with the 
Company’s expansion of 
manufacturing capability and market 
penetration particularly in Asia. David 
is a former Executive Director of 
Interlock Group and was a Vice 

President of Asia Pacific Operations and an Operational Council Member 
of ASSA ABLOY (Sweden). He is a director of A2 Corporation Limited. 
David was confirmed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company  
in August 2011.

Sir Selwyn Cushing  
kNZM, CMG, FCA. 
Chairman
Sir Selwyn has had a varied and 
broad-ranging career with many of 
New Zealand’s highest-profile 
companies, including the chairmanship 
of Air New Zealand, Brierley 
Investments, Carter Holt Harvey, 
Electricity Corporation, Huttons Kiwi, 

Whitcoulls Group, and was a director of Skellerup Industries Limited (the 
original Skellerup listed company) in the nineteen eighties. He has also 
served as a government-appointed member of the Securities 
Commission and the N.Z. Apple and Pear Marketing Board. His other 
current directorships include NZ Rural Property Trust, PGG Wrightson 
and Rural Equities.

Board of  
Directors
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Corporate  
Governance policy

The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company meet the 
requirements of the New Zealand Exchange’s Corporate Governance 
Best Practice Code. 

The Board of Directors is committed to maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate governance. This report outlines the policies and 
procedures under which Skellerup Holdings is governed:

CODE OF EtHICS
Skellerup’s Code of Ethics governs its conduct. Its purpose is to:

•	 Set policy and provide guidance for ethical issues,

•	 Establish compliance standards and procedures,

•	 Provide mechanisms to report unethical behaviour, and

•	 Provide for disciplinary measures

ROlE OF BOARD OF DIRECtORS
The Board of Directors is elected by the Company’s shareholders to 
direct and supervise the management of the Company.

The Board’s role is to:

•	 Establish the strategic direction and objectives of the Company

•	 Set the policy framework within which the Company will operate

•	 Appoint the Chief Executive

•	 Delegate appropriate authority to the Chief Executive for the 
day-to-day management of the Company

•	 Monitor performance of the Chief Executive and the Board 
Committees on a regular basis

•	 Approve the Company’s system of internal financial control; monitor 
and approve budgets; and monitor monthly financial performance

BOARD SIZE AND StRUCtURE
The Board is currently comprised of three non-executive Directors and 
one executive Director. Non-executive directors are selected to ensure 
that a broad range of skills and experience are available. One of the 
non-executive directors is appointed as Chairman.

Board procedures ensure that all Directors have the information needed 
to contribute to informed discussion on all monthly agenda items 
and effectively carry out their duties. Senior managers make direct 
presentations to the Board on a regular basis to give the Directors a 
broad understanding of management philosophies and capabilities.

BOARD COMMIttEES
The Board has three standing committees, described below. The Board 
regularly reviews the performance of the standing committees against 
written charters specific to each committee.

1. Audit and Risk Management Committee
This committee comprises three non-executive directors, one of whom 
is appointed as Chairman. The Chief Executive and the Chief Financial 
Officer attend as ex-officio members; and the external auditors attend 
by invitation of the Chairman.

This Committee meets a minimum of four times each year.

Its responsibilities are to:

•	 Ensure that the Company has adequate risk management controls 
in place;

•	 Advise the board on accounting policies, practices and disclosure;

•	 Review the scope and outcome of the external audit; and

•	 Review the annual and half-yearly statements prior to approval 
by the Board.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee reports the proceedings 
of each of its meetings to the full Board.

The current composition of the committee is Elizabeth Coutts (Chair), 
Sir Selwyn Cushing and Dr Ian Parton. The Committee met four times 
during the year under review.
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2. Remuneration Committee
This committee comprises three non-executive directors. It meets 
as required to:

•	 Review the remuneration packages of the Chief Executive and 
Senior Managers

•	 Make recommendations to shareholders in relation to non-executive 
director remuneration packages.

Remuneration packages are reviewed annually. Independent external 
surveys are used as a basis for establishing competitive packages.

The current composition of the Remuneration Committee 
is Sir Selwyn Cushing (Chairman), Elizabeth Coutts and Dr Ian Parton.

3. Board Nomination Committee
This committee comprises two non-executive directors. It meets 
as required to recommend new appointments to the Board.

The current composition of the Board Nomination Committee 
is Sir Selwyn Cushing (Chairman) and Elizabeth Coutts.

ORGANISAtIONAl StRUCtURE  
AND FINANCIAl REPORtING
The Board has delegated the management responsibilities of the 
Company to the Chief Executive.

The financial progress of the Company’s two divisions is reported 
separately to the Board each month to enable divisional financial 
performance to be analysed prior to consolidation of the accounts.

Delegation of capital expenditure is limited and clearly defined with 
a Board-approved annual budget. This is monitored monthly.

INtERNAl FINANCIAl CONtROl  
AND RISk MANAGEMENt
The Board, advised by the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
approves the Company’s system of internal financial control. This 
system includes clearly defined policies controlling treasury operations 
and capital expenditure authorisation.

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible to the Chief Executive for 
ensuring that all operations within the Company adhere to the Board 
approved financial control policies.

The Board has established a framework for the relationship between  
the Company and the external auditor. This framework ensures that:

•	 Recommendations made by the external auditor and other 
independent advisers are critically evaluated and, where appropriate, 
applied; and

•	 The Company has defined policies and procedures in place as 
appropriate internal controls to manage risk effectively.

The Board ensures that adequate external insurance cover is in place 
appropriate to the Company’s size and risk profile.

The Company has a risk register that identifies the key risks facing the 
business, and the status of initiatives implemented to manage them.

This risk register is reviewed and updated on a regular basis.

SHAREHOlDER RElAtIONS
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept informed of major 
developments affecting the Company. Information is communicated 
 to shareholders primarily through the annual and interim reports.

Any material affecting the Company during the intervening period  
is immediately reported to the New Zealand Stock Exchange under  
the ‘continuous disclosure’ regime.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend and participate fully  
at the Annual Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability.

Investors can obtain information on the Company from its website 
www.skellerupholdings.co.nz
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Independent Auditor’s Report

to the Shareholders of Skellerup Holdings limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries on pages 26 to 70, which comprise the balance sheet of 
Skellerup Holdings Limited and the group as at 30 June 2012, and the statement of comprehensive income, income statement, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended of the company and group, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 205(1) of the Companies Act 1993.  Our audit has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand 
and that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). These auditing standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected, depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we have considered the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that 
give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Ernst & Young provides other assurance and consulting services to the company and group.   

Partners and employees of our firm may deal with the company on normal terms within the ordinary course of trading activities of the business  
of the company.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 26 to 70:

•	 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 

•	 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

•	 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Skellerup Holdings Limited and the group as at 30 June 2012 and the financial performance  
and cash flows of the company and group for the year then ended.

Report on Other legal and Regulatory Requirements 
In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that: 

•	 We have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required.

•	 In our opinion proper accounting records have been kept by Skellerup Holdings Limited as far as appears from our examination of those records.

 

22 August 2012 
Auckland

Chartered Accountants

Auditor’s Report
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Directors’ Responsibility 
Statement

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

The Directors are responsible for the preparation, in accordance with New Zealand law and 
generally accepted accounting practice, of financial statements which give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of Skellerup Holdings Limited and the Group as at 30 June 
2012, and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The Directors consider that the financial statements of the Company and the 
Group have been prepared using accounting policies appropriate to the Company 
and Group circumstances, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates, and that all applicable New Zealand Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed.

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that proper accounting records 
have been kept which enable, with reasonable accuracy, the determination of the 
financial position of the Company and Group and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The Directors have responsibility for the maintenance of a system of internal control designed 
to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. 
The Directors consider that adequate steps have been taken to safeguard the assets 
of the Company and Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are pleased to present the financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited  
for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The Financial Statements are dated 22 August 2012 and are signed in accordance with 
a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 211 of the Companies Act 1993.

Sir Selwyn Cushing
Chairman of the Board of Directors

E.M. Coutts
Director

For and on behalf of the Directors
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Income Statement 
FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

note GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

REvENUE
operating revenue 2 207,313 193,593 11,824 8,506

less cost of sales 123,200 116,210 - -

GROSS PROFIt 84,113 77,383 11,824 8,506

plus other income 3 1,892 1,781 23 43

tOtAl INCOME 86,005 79,164 11,847 8,549
less distribution expenses 12,472 12,339 - -
less marketing expenses 17,089 16,053 - -
less administration expenses 19,850 18,545 2,249 1,694

PROFIt FOR tHE YEAR BEFORE tAx, FINANCE COStS  
AND EARtHqUAkE INSURANCE INCOME 36,594 32,227 9,598 6,855

less finance costs 4 2,101 2,667 509 690

PROFIt FOR tHE YEAR BEFORE tAx AND 
EARtHqUAkE INSURANCE INCOME 34,493 29,560 9,089 6,165

less income tax expense 5 10,229 9,360 1,061 425

Net profit for the year attributable to trading 24,264 20,200 8,028 5,740

INCOME AND ExPENDItURE RElAtED 
tO CANtERBURY EARtHqUAkES
Claims made against insurance policies 3 2,930 4,132 - -
less costs incurred 6 2,529 4,132 - -

net after tax income from insurance proceeds 28 401 - - -

Net profit for the year attributable  
to owners of the parent 24,665 20,200 8,028 5,740

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share 19 12.793 10.504 - -
Diluted earnings per share 19 12.793 10.504 - -

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Financial statements
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note  GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENt ASSEtS 
Cash and cash equivalents  7  6,170  12,766  1,163  1,579 
trade and other receivables  8  40,833  40,658  2,583  110 
Inventories  9  37,225  28,437  -  - 
Income tax receivable  5  47  347  -  - 
Derivative financial assets  20  505  430  -  - 
Investments and advances  12  -  1,000  -  - 

total Current Assets  84,780  83,638  3,746  1,689 

NON-CURRENt ASSEtS 
property, plant and equipment  10  38,351  37,751  2  4 
Deferred tax assets  5  3,333  2,646  46  15 
Goodwill  11  44,557  45,543  -  - 
Intangible assets  11  3,688  4,258  -  - 
Derivative financial assets  20  53  95  -  - 
Investments and advances  12  -  -  68,149  74,523 

total Non-Current Assets  89,982  90,293  68,197  74,542 

total Assets  174,762  173,931  71,943  76,231 

CURRENt lIABIlItIES 
trade and other payables  13  26,473  23,918  1,074  667 
provisions  14  7,929  8,047  34  28 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  15  102  94  -  - 
Income tax payable  5  5,116  6,658  1,012  335 
Derivative financial liabilities  20  251  291  -  - 

total Current liabilities  39,871  39,008  2,120  1,030 

NON-CURRENt lIABIlItIES 
provisions  14  1,312  965  -  - 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  15  10,321  21,752  -  - 
Derivative financial liabilities  20  3  129  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities  5  1,883  1,752  -  - 

total Non-Current liabilities  13,519  24,598  -  - 

total liabilities  53,390  63,606  2,120  1,030 

Net Assets  121,372  110,325  69,823  75,201 

EqUItY 
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 
Share capital  16  69,732  69,732  69,732  69,732 
Reserves  17  (9,111)  (8,984)  90  - 
Retained earnings  18  60,751  49,577  1  5,469 

total Equity  121,372  110,325  69,823  75,201 

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Balance Sheet 
AS At 30 JUNE 2012

Sir Selwyn Cushing
Chairman of the Board of Directors

E.M. Coutts
Director

For and on behalf of the Board which authorised these financial statements on 22 August 2012
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note  GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Net profit after tax for the year 24,665 20,200 8,028 5,740

OtHER COMPREHENSIvE INCOME

net gains/(losses) on hedge of net investments  17  (1,499)  (2,483)  -  - 

Foreign exchange movements on translation of foreign 
operations  17  744  (1,162)  -  - 

net gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges  17  159  639  -  - 

tax relating to components of other  
comprehensive income  5  373  (653)  -  - 

effect of movement in foreign currencies  17  6  (11)  -  - 

Other comprehensive income net of tax  (217)  (3,670)  -  - 

total comprehensive income for the year  24,448  16,530  8,028  5,740 

Attributable to:
equity holders of parent  24,448  16,530  8,028  5,740 
non-controlling interests - - - -

 24,448  16,530  8,028  5,740 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 
FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Financial statements
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Statement of  
Changes in equity 
FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

note Fully pAID 
oRDInARy 

SHAReS

CASH FloW 
HeDGe 

ReSeRVe

FoReIGn 
CuRRenCy 

tRAnSlAtIon 
ReSeRVe

eMployee 
SHARe plAn 

ReSeRVe

RetAIneD 
eARnInGS

totAl

GROUP $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance 1 July 2010  68,198  (307)  (5,007)  -  38,006  100,890 

net profit after tax for year 
ending 30 June 2011  -  -  -  -  20,200  20,200 
other comprehensive income  17  -  432  (4,102)  -  -  (3,670)

tOtAl COMPREHENSIvE  
INCOME FOR tHE YEAR  -  432  (4,102)  -  20,200  16,530 
Issue of share capital  16  1,534  -  -  -  -  1,534 
Dividends  18  -  -  -  -  (8,629)  (8,629)

Balance 30 June 2011  69,732  125  (9,109)  -  49,577  110,325 

net profit after tax for year 
ending 30 June 2012  -  -  -  -  24,665  24,665 
other comprehensive income  17  -  117  (334)  -  -  (217)

tOtAl COMPREHENSIvE  
INCOME FOR tHE YEAR  -  117  (334)  -  24,665  24,448 
Share incentive scheme  23  -  -  -  90  -  90 
Dividends  18  -  -  -  -  (13,491)  (13,491)

Balance 30 June 2012  69,732  242  (9,443)  90  60,751  121,372 

note Fully pAID 
oRDInARy 

SHAReS

eMployee 
SHARe plAn 

ReSeRVe

RetAIneD 
eARnInGS

totAl

PARENt $000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance 1 July 2010  68,198  -  8,364  76,562 

net profit after tax for year ending 30 June 2011  -  -  5,740  5,740 
other comprehensive income  17  -  -  -  - 

tOtAl COMPREHENSIvE INCOME FOR tHE YEAR  -  -  5,740  5,740 
Issue of share capital  16  1,534  -  -  1,534 
Dividends  18  -  -  (8,635)  (8,635)

Balance 30 June 2011  69,732  -  5,469  75,201 

net profit after tax for year ending 30 June 2012  -  -  8,028  8,028 
other comprehensive income  17  -  -  -  - 

tOtAl COMPREHENSIvE INCOME FOR tHE YEAR  -  -  8,028  8,028 

Share incentive scheme  23  -  90  -  90 
Dividends  18  -  -  (13,496)  (13,496)

Balance 30 June 2012  69,732  90  1  69,823

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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note  GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FlOwS FROM OPERAtING ACtIvItIES
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GSt/VAt)  199,289  188,529  -  - 
Interest received  88  488  28  43 
Dividends received  -  -  5,300  4,780 
earthquake insurance receipts  8,300  1,626  -  - 
payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GSt/VAt)  (168,757)  (151,052)  (1,788)  (1,965)
Income tax refund/(paid)  (11,580)  (5,695)  (416)  (64)
Interest and bank fees paid  (2,010)  (2,874)  (461)  (671)
Management fees received  -  -  4,024  3,726 

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating 
activities  25  25,330  31,022  6,687  5,849 

CASH FlOwS FROM INvEStING ACtIvItIES
proceeds from repayment of debenture  750  2,000  -  - 
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  84  49  -  - 
payments for property, plant and equipment  (7,433)  (7,436)  -  (5)
payments for intangible assets  (282)  (270)  -  - 
proceeds from/(payments to) related parties  -  -  6,374  2,206 

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities  (6,881)  (5,657)  6,374  2,201 

CASH FlOwS FROM FINANCING ACtIvItIES
proceeds from loans and advances  196  -  -  - 
Cash contribution for employee share plan  19  -  19  - 
Repayment of borrowings  (11,422)  (14,649)  -  - 
Dividends paid to equity holders of parent  (13,491)  (7,095)  (13,496)  (7,101)

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  (24,698)  (21,744)  (13,477)  (7,101)

net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (6,249)  3,621  (416)  949 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  12,766  9,567  1,579  630 
effect of exchange rate fluctuations  (347)  (422)  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7  6,170  12,766  1,163  1,579 

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Cash Flow  
Statement 
FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Financial statements
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notes to the  
Financial Statements 
FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Summary of Significant 
Accounting policies 

1. CORPORAtE INFORMAtION  
The financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on 22 August 2012. 

Skellerup Holdings Limited is registered under the Companies Act 1993 
incorporated in New Zealand and listed on the New Zealand Exchange. 
Skellerup Holdings Limited is an issuer for the purposes of the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are 
described in the Segment Information under Note 25.

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial Reporting 
Act 1993. The financial statements have also been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments that have 
been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2012 have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practices. They comply with the New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZIFRS) 
and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards as appropriate 
for profit oriented entities. The financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Group is a profit oriented entity and the operational results may 
fluctuate with movements in the international markets.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as at  
30 June 2012 (‘the Group’). 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the parent company, using consistent  
accounting policies. 

When subsidiaries are initially consolidated, adjustments are made to 
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany 
balances, income and expense transactions, and profit and losses 
resulting from intra-group activities, have been eliminated. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred out of the Group. 

Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial 
statements include the results for the part of the reporting year during 
which Skellerup Holdings Limited has control. 
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(c) New accounting standards and interpretations
NZ IFRS Standards which have been issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted for the Annual Report ending 30 June 2012, are as follows:

ReFeRenCe tItle SuMMARy
ApplICAtIon 

DAte oF 
StAnDARD

IMpACt on GRoup 
FInAnCIAl StAteMentS

ApplICAtIon 
DAte FoR 

GRoup

NZ IAS 12

Amendments to 
NZ IAS 12 Income 
Taxes – Deferred 
Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets

These amendments update NZ IAS 12 to include a requirement that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation model in NZ IAS 16, should always be 
measured on a sale basis.
The amendments incorporate NZ SIC-21 Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable 
Assets into NZ IAS 12 for non-depreciable assets measured using the revaluation model in NZ IAS 
16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

1 January 2012

These amendments are not 
expected to have a material 
impact on the measurement and 
recognition of amounts disclosed 
in the Financial Statements.

1 July 2012

NZ IAS 1

Amendments to NZ 
IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements 
– Presentation of 
Other Comprehensive 
Income

This Standard requires entities to group items presented in other comprehensive income on 
the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss in subsequent periods 
(reclassification adjustments).

1 July 2012

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2012

NZ IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The main change introduced by this standard is to revise the accounting for defined benefit 
plans. The amendment removes the options for accounting for the liability, and requires that 
the liabilities arising from such plans are recognised in full with actuarial gains and losses being 
recognised in other comprehensive income. It also revised the method of calculating the return 
on plan assets. Consequential amendments were also made to other standards.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2013

NZ IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements

NZ IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as amended in 2011) removes the accounting and 
disclosure requirements for consolidated financial statements, as a result of the issue of NZ IFRS 
10 Consolidated Financial Statements and NZ IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities, 
which establish new consolidation and disclosure standards.
NZ IAS 27 (as amended in 2011) contains accounting and disclosure requirements for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate 
financial statements.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 7

Amendments to 
NZ IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: 
Disclosures – 
Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial 
Liabilities

These amendments introduce disclosures, which provide users with information that is useful in 
evaluating the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. 1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 7

Amendments to 
NZ IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: 
Disclosures – 
Transition Disclosures

These amendments to NZ IFRS 7 remove the requirement for the restatement of comparative 
period financial statements upon initial application of the classification and measurement 
requirements of NZ IFRS 9.
Instead, the amendments introduce additional disclosures on transition from the classification 
and measurement requirements of NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement to those of NZ IFRS 9. 
These disclosures are required even if the comparative figures are restated for the effect of 
applying NZ IFRS 9.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements

NZ IFRS 10 establishes a new control model. It replaces parts of NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements dealing with the accounting for consolidated financial statements 
and SIC – 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.
The new control model broadens the situations when an entity is considered to control another 
entity and includes new guidance for applying the model to specific situations, including when 
acting as a manager may give control, the impact of potential voting rights and when holding 
less than a majority voting rights may give control.

1 January 2013

These amendments are not 
expected to cause additional 
entities being consolidated, 
and therefore have no material 
impact on the measurement and 
recognition of amounts disclosed 
in the Financial Statements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests 
in Other Entities

NZ IFRS 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structures entities. New disclosures have been introduced about 
the judgments made by management to determine whether control exists, and to require 
summarised information about joint arrangements, associates and structured entities and 
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

1 January 2013

These amendments are not 
expected to have any impact on 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
since the Group has no joint 
arrangements, associates and 
structured entities.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

NZ IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under NZ IFRS for determining the fair value of 
assets and liabilities. NZ IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but 
rather, provides guidance on how to determine fair value under NZ IFRS when fair value is required 
or permitted by NZ IFRS. Application of this guidance may result in different fair values being 
determined for the relevant assets.
NZ IFRS 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. 
This includes information about the assumptions made and the qualitative impact of those 
assumptions on the fair value determined.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2013

Annual 
Improvements 
to NZ IFRS’s 
2009 – 2011 
Cycle

Amendments to NZ 
IFRSs arising from the 
Annual Improvements 
Project (2009-2011)

(NZ IFRS 1, NZ IAS 1, 
16, 32, 34)

The following standards are amended by this standard:
NZ IFRS 1
•	 Clarify that an entity that has stopped applying NZ IFRS may choose to either:

i  Re-apply NZ IFRS 1, even if the entity applied NZ IFRS 1 in a previous reporting period
ii  Apply NZ IFRS’s retrospectively in accordance with NZ IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes 

in Accounting Estimates and Errors (i.e., as if it had never stopped applying IFRS).
In order to resume reporting under NZ IFRS.
•	 Clarifies that, upon adoption of NZ IFRS, an entity that capitalised borrowing costs in 

accordance with its previous GAAP, may carry forward, without adjustment, the amount 
previously capitalised in its opening statement of financial position at the date of transition.

NZ IAS 1
•	 Clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the 

minimum required comparative information. Generally, the minimum required comparative 
period is the previous period.

NZ IAS 16 
•	 Clarifies that major spare parts and servicing equipment that meet the definition of property, 

plant and equipment are not inventory.
NZ IAS 32
•	 Clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders are accounted for in 

accordance with NZ IAS 12 Income Taxes.
NZ IAS 34
•	 Clarifies the requirements in NZ IAS 34 relating to segment information for total assets and 

liabilities for each reportable segment to enhance consistency with the requirements in NZ 
IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2013

NZ IAS 32

Amendments to 
NZ IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: 
Presentation – 
Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial 
Liabilities

These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set off” 
and also clarify the application of the NZ IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems (such 
as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are not 
simultaneous.

1 January 2014

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2014
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NZ IFRS 9 
(2010) Financial Instruments

NZ IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes NZ IFRS 9 (2009).
The requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities were added to NZ IFRS 9 as 
issued in 2009. The existing NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
requirements for the classification of financial liabilities and the ability to use the fair value option 
have been retained. However, where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities, the 
change in fair value is accounted for as follows:
The change attributable to changes in credit risk is presented in other comprehensive income (OCI).
The remaining change is presented in profit or loss.
If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in the profit or loss, the effect of the 
changes in credit risk are also presented in profit or loss.

1 January 2015

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2015

NZ IFRS 9 
(2009) Financial Instruments

NZ IFRS 9 (2009) includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets resulting from the first part of Phase 1 of the IASB’s project to replace NZ IAS 39.
These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and measurement of 
financial assets compared with the requirements of NZ IAS 39. The revised Standard introduces 
a number of changes to the accounting for financial assets, the most significant of which includes:
•	 Two categories for financial assets being amortised cost or fair value
•	 Removal of the requirement to separate embedded derivatives in financial assets
•	 Strict requirements to determine which financial assets can be classified as amortised cost or 

fair value. Financial assets can only be classified as amortised cost if (a) the contractual cash 
flows from the instrument represent principal and interest and (b) the entity’s purpose for 
holding the instrument is to collect the contractual cash flows.

•	 An option for investments in equity instruments which are not held for trading to recognise 
fair value changes through other comprehensive income with no impairment testing and no 
recycling through profit or loss on derecognition.

•	 Reclassifications between amortised cost and fair value no longer permitted unless the entity’s 
business model for holding the asset changes.

•	 Changes to the accounting and additional disclosures for equity instruments classified as fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

1 January 2015

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements, 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts disclosed.

1 July 2015

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POlICIES (continued)

(d) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
The consideration transferred in a business combination shall be 
measured at fair value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, the 
liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and 
the equity issued by the Group, and the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group 
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets 
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation 
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the 
Group’s operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions 
as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded 
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date 
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group will be 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to 
the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an 
asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with NZ IAS 39 either 
in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured.

Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for 
sale (which are measured at fair value less costs to sell), all identifiable 
assets acquired, liabilities, and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination, are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non controlling 
interests. The excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the net fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than 
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable net assets 
of the subsidiary, the difference is recognised as a gain in the income 
statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the 
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value 
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which similar borrowing 
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable 
terms and conditions.

(e) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the entity 
which is reported as an organisational unit, engages in business 
activities, earning revenues and incurs expenses, and whose operating 
results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to 
allocate resources and assess performance.

Factors which determine a separate operating segment include the 
nature of the products, services and production processes, together with 
the type and class of the customer. Such segments will have discreet 
financial information available so that the chief operating decision 
maker is able to assess performance and allocate resources. Operating 
segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by NZ IFRS 
8 are reported separately. However, an operating segment that does 
not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately where this 
separate disclosure meets the above definition of a separate operating 
segment and is useful to users of the Financial Statements.

(f) Foreign currency translation
Functional and Presentation Currency
Both the functional and presentation currency of Skellerup Holdings 
Limited and its New Zealand subsidiaries is New Zealand dollars.

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is the currency 
relating to the country where the subsidiary is domiciled.

Transactions and Balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional 
currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

All differences in the financial statements are taken to the income 
statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency 
borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign 
entity. These are taken directly to statement of comprehensive income 
until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are 
recognised in the income statement.

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on 
those borrowings are also recognised directly in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date 
of the initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined.
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As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these overseas 
subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of Skellerup 
Holdings Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and the income statements are translated at the weighted average 
month end exchange rates for the year.

The exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a 
separate component of the statement of comprehensive income.

(g) Property, plant and equipment
All classes of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at 
cost, including costs directly attributable in bringing the asset to the 
working condition and ready for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the asset as follows:

Buildings  - 40 years 

Plant and Equipment  -  2 to 20 years 

Furniture, Fittings and Other  -  5 to 10 years

Impairment
The carrying values of assets are reviewed for impairment when events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may be less 
than the recoverable amount.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, 
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the 
estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are 
written down to their recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Disposals
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the item) is included in the income statement in the year the item 
is derecognised.

(h) Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at 
cost, being the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair 
value of the Group’s net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If this consideration transferred is lower than the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 
recognised in the income statement.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at the amount recognised 
at acquisition date less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are 
assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units 
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the 
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes, and is not larger than an operating segment determined in 
accordance with NZ IFRS 8.

Impairment testing is undertaken as at 31 May each year and 
is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates.

Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than 
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised are not subsequently reversed.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the 
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount 
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of 
the operation.

Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of 
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the 
cash-generating unit retained.

(i) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination, 
are capitalised at cost at the date of acquisition.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The useful lives of these separately acquired intangible assets are 
assessed to be finite.

Where amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives, this expense is 
taken to the income statement.

Intangible assets with finite lives, excluding development costs, created 
within the business are not capitalised and expenditure is charged to 
the income statement in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of 
impairment exists, and in the case of intangibles with indefinite 
lives, annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. 
Where an intangible asset is impaired, the carrying amount, less any 
recoverable amount as defined in Note 1(j) is charged to the income 
statement. Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and 
adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

The Group’s intangible assets mainly consist of software costs and land 
use rights. A 10-year straight line amortisation rate is currently used for 
software costs. Land use rights are amortised over the period the land is 
available to be used, being 50 years.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income 
statement when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is carried 
forward when its future recoverability can reasonably be regarded 
as assured.

Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the 
cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Any expenditure carried forward is amortised over the period of 
expected future sales from the related project.

The amortisation period and amortisation method for development 
costs is reviewed at each financial year-end. If the useful life or method 
of consumption is different from the previous assessment, changes are 
made accordingly. The carrying value of development costs is reviewed 
for indicators of impairment annually.

(j) Recoverable amount of non-current assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of 
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable 
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amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset’s 
value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to 
sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

(k) Investments
All investments in subsidiaries are initially recognised at cost, being 
the fair value of the consideration given, including acquisition charges 
associated with the investment. Investments will continue to be 
measured at cost in the parent’s Financial Statements.

(l) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and 
condition are accounted for as follows:

•	 Raw materials – purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis;

•	 Finished goods and work-in-progress – cost of direct materials and 
labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on 
normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

(m) trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-120 day terms, are 
recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for 
any uncollectible amounts.

An estimate for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence 
of impairment of the full amount. Bad debts are written off when 
identified. A debt is considered to be uncollectible when the debtor files 
for receivership or liquidation.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank 
and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.

(o)  Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale 
and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale 
and measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction. They are not depreciated or amortised. For 
an asset or disposal group to be classified as held for sale, it must be 
available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale must 
be highly probable.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-
down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. A 
gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to 
sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative 
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously 
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal 
group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been 
disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a 
separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is 
part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or 
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to 
resale. The results of discontinued operations are presented separately 
on the face of the income statement.

(p) Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial assets 
at fair value through the income statement, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. When 
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, 
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through the income 
statement, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines 
the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, 
when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each 
financial year-end.

Recognition and derecognition
All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the 
trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset. 
Regular purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 
under contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period 
established generally by regulation or convention in the market place. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows 
from the financial assets have expired or been transferred. Gains and 
losses on financial assets are exclusive of interest and dividends which 
are recognised separately.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the 
category ‘financial assets at fair value through the income statement’. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling in the near term with the intention of making 
a profit. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on 
investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement.

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended 
to be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification. 
Investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost is computed 
as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method 
of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the 
maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or 
received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and 
discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses 
are recognised in the income statement when the investments are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables including loan notes and loans to key 
management personnel are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the 
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process.

(iv) Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified 
as any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition 
available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with gains 
or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until 
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the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined 
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in the statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the 
income statement.

The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised 
financial markets are determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For 
investments with no active market, fair values are determined using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length 
market transactions, reference to the current market value of another 
instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis 
and option pricing models making as much use of available and 
supportable market data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs  
to a minimum.

(q) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield 
related are included as part of the carrying amount of the loans  
and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least  
12 months after the reporting date.

(r) trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost, and due to 
their short term nature, are not discounted. They represent liabilities 
for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Group becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these 
goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and usually paid within 
30 to 60 days of recognition.

(s) Provisions and employee benefits
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income 
statement net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best 
estimates of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at 
the balance date.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Certain businesses within New Zealand qualify to be in the Accident 
Compensation Commission Partnership Programme, where medical costs 
relating to work related incidents are the liability of the business under 

certain conditions. The liability arising from such future work related 
medical costs are valued by an independent actuary, discounted to a 
present value and recorded as a current liability on the Balance Sheet.

Employee benefits
(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, 
annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities 
for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken 
and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect 
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using a 
probability calculation of the employee reaching the future service 
milestones. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii) Defined contribution scheme
The Group contributes to post employment schemes for its employees. 
Under these schemes the benefits received by the employee are 
determined by the amount of the contribution paid by the Group, 
together with any investment returns and hence the actuarial and 
investment risk is borne entirely by the employee. Therefore, because 
the Group’s obligations are determined by the amount paid during 
each period, no actuarial assumptions are required to measure the 
obligation or the expense.

(iv) Share Based Incentive Scheme
The Group operates a share based incentive scheme for the Chief 
Executive whereby Redeemable Ordinary Shares have been issued 
and held in trust under a Deed which allows for the shares to vest, 
at the option of the Chief Executive, in a future period. The cost of 
the issued equity is measured by reference to the fair value at the 
date on which the equity is granted. The fair value is determined by 
reference to the Black Scholes valuation formula and determined by 
an independent valuer.

The cost of the equity settled transaction is recognised over the period 
in which the conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised 
at each reporting date, until the vesting date, reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of 
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense 
or credit for a period represents the movement in the cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. The 
cumulative expense over the vesting period is recognised through the 
Employee Share Plan Reserve in equity.

No expense is recognised for equity that does not vest.

Where an equity award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on 
the date of cancellation. No further expense is recognised, and the 
cumulative balance in the Employee Share Plan Reserve transfers to 
Retained Earnings.

Any cash contribution made towards the equity share scheme at the 
grant date, has been offset against the initial recognised cost of the 
expired vesting period.

With the vesting shares being the market price at the time of vesting, 
there is no dilutive effect on the earnings per share calculation.
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(t) leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a 
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a 
right to use the asset.

Finance leases
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised 
at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property 
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Where the leased item is capitalised, the item is depreciated over its 
economic useful life.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
included in the income statement as finance costs.

Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(u) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(v) Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be measured 
reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the 
time of delivery of the goods to the customer.

Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering services is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion.

Stage of completion is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to 
date as a percentage of total estimated labour hours for each contract.

Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue 
is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that 
are recoverable.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective 
interest method which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset).

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the 
payment is established.

Rental income
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Contingent rental income is recognised as income in the periods 
in which it is earned.

(w) Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching  
conditions will be complied with.

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as a 
liability initially, and released as income over the periods necessary to 
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended 
to compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a 
deferred income account and is released to the income statement 
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal 
annual instalments.

(x) Income tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or paid to, the 
taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the 
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences:

•	 except for a deferred income tax liability arising from the initial 
recognition of goodwill;

•	 except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss, or

•	 when the deductible temporary difference is associated with 
investment in subsidiaries, in which case a deferred tax asset is 
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current assets against current liabilities and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POlICIES (continued)
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Income tax relating to items recognised directly in the statement 
of comprehensive income are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income and not in the income statement.

(y) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
GST/VAT except:

•	 where the GST/VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and services is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST/
VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST/VAT 
included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis 
and the GST/VAT component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to the taxation 
authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of 
GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(z) Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of 
the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than 
dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

(aa) Derecognition of financial instruments
The derecognition of a financial instrument takes place when the Group 
no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial 
instrument, which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or 
all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are passed through to 
an independent third party.

(ab) Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward 
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated 
with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative 
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to fair value. Certain derivative instruments are also held for 
trading for the purpose of making short term gains. These derivatives 
do not qualify for hedge accounting and changes in fair value are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss in other revenue and expenses. 
Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives, 
except for those that qualify as cash flows hedges, are taken directly to 
profit or loss for the year. The fair values of forward currency contracts 
are calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for 
contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair values of interest rate 
swap and commodity contracts are determined by reference to market 
values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

•	 Fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the 
fair value of a recognised asset or liability;

•	 Cash flow hedges when they hedge the exposure to variability in cash 
flows that is attributable either to a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction; or

•	 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates 
and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes 
to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objectives 
and strategies for undertaking the hedge. The documentation 

includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or 
transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity 
will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the 
exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair values or cash flows 
attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly 
effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows and 
are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have 
been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for 
which they were designated.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted 
for as follows:

(i) Fair value hedges
Fair value hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to changes 
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or the firm 
commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an 
asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instrument are also recognised in profit or loss.

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the hedging 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes 
the designation. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest method 
is used is amortised to profit or loss. Amortisation may begin as 
soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when 
the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value 
attributable to the risk being hedged.

(ii) Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to variability 
in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction and that could affect profit or loss. The effective portion 
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly 
in the statement of comprehensive income, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in the income statement.

Amounts taken to the statement of comprehensive income are 
transferred out of the statement of comprehensive income and 
included in the measurement of the hedged transaction (sales  
or inventory purchases) when the forecast transaction occurs.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts 
previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement 
or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts 
previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
remain in the statement of comprehensive income until the 
forecast transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not 
expected to occur, the amount is recognised in the  
income statement.

(iii) Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a 
hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net 
investment, are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. 
Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective 
portion of the hedge are recognised directly in equity while any 
gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in 
profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative 
value of any such gains or losses recognised directly in equity is 
transferred to profit or loss.

(ac) Significant accounting judgements and assumptions
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies 
for which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions are 
made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results 
or the financial position reported in future periods.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POlICIES (continued)
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Details of the material accounting judgements and assumptions are 
as follows:

(i) Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill with indefinite useful 
lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires certain 
assumptions being made in determining the recoverable amount 
of the cash generation units, using a value in use discounted cash 
flow methodology, to which the goodwill has been allocated. The 
assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount and the 
carrying amount of goodwill are disclosed in Note 11.

(ii) Warranty provisions
In determining the level of provision required for warranties, 
the Group has made judgements in respect of the expected 
performance of products and the costs of rectifying any products 
that do not meet the customers’ quality standards. Historical 
experience and trends of past expenditure have been used by 
management in determining the appropriate provision required. 
The related carrying amount of provisions is disclosed in Note 14.

(iii) Inventory obsolescence
The Group applies an inventory valuation policy of valuing at the 
lower of original cost, or net realisable value. Where inventory is 
written down below cost, estimates are made of the realisable 
value less cost to sell to determine the net realisable value. The 
estimated write down is disclosed in Note 9.

(iv) Estimation of useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on 
historical experience, manufacturers’ warranties, lease terms and 
management’s judgement on the performance of the asset. 
Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary. 
The depreciation charges are disclosed in Note 10.

(v) Recovery of the deferred tax asset
The deferred tax asset represents the temporary differences that 
arise where expenditure recognised by the Group can be claimed 
in a future period, when the expenditure is considered to be an 
allowable deduction for tax purposes. The assumption made is 
that it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available in 

future periods in each tax jurisdiction that the deferred tax relates, 
to utilise the tax benefit represented by the deferred tax asset. The 
deferred tax asset is disclosed in Note 5.

(vi) Impairment of non financial assets other than goodwill
The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting 
date, by evaluating conditions specific to the group and to the 
particular assets held. The assessment made includes product and 
manufacturing performances, technology, economic and political 
environments and future product expectations. If an impairment 
exists the recoverable amount is determined and the asset written 
down to the recoverable amount. Management have determined 
there are no material impairments of non financial assets.

(vii) Management’s expectation of future payments
Management closely monitor the cash needs of the Group so that 
adequate financial resources are available to meet the immediate 
cash commitments.

A balanced view of cash inflows and outflows are considered when 
determining the cash resources available, in addition to ensuring 
appropriate credit lines are available from the Group’s bankers 
to cover short and long term cash demands. Under Note 21, 
management has disclosed their estimates of the timing of future 
cash commitments from the realisation of financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

(viii)  Assumptions relating to the Canterbury 
earthquake insurance recovery
As a result of the damage to buildings and business interruptions 
caused by the Canterbury earthquakes, management have made 
certain assumptions regarding the estimated recovery which will 
result from claims made on insurance policies.

For expenses relating to increased costs of operating, temporary 
repairs and certain business interruption costs which can be 
quantified, the expenses and sundry income expected to be 
recovered under insurance policies have been recorded in the 
financial statements. The expenses are recorded in Note 6 and the 
sundry income in Note 3. A summary of the impact on the Group’s 
result is reported in Note 28.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANt ACCOUNtING POlICIES (continued)

(ad) Changes to accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies during the reported period other than the application of the following new standards  
and interpretations which has impacted presentation, and has no material impact on the measurement and recognition of amounts in the  
Financial Statements:

Accounting Standard Amendments Presentation Impact

Amendments to nZ IFRS arising from the Annual Improvement 
project

– provides guidance on the quantitative and qualitative nature 
of certain items disclosed in the Financial Statements.

nZ IAS 24 Related party Disclosures – Clarifies the definition of related party.

nZ IFRS 8 operating Segments – Clarification of what is included in an operating segment.

nZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – enhances the transparency of disclosure requirements for the 
transfer of financial assets.

FRS 44 Joint trans tasman Convergence project – Aligns certain standards with the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) and the Financial Reporting Standards Board (FRSB).

Harmonisation Amendments – Amends certain nZ IFRS standards to harmonise with IFRS and the 
Australian Accounting Standards.
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2. OPERAtING REvENUE
Revenue for the year is as follows: 

note  GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Sale of goods 207,191 193,443 - -
Management fees from subsidiaries 22 - - 6,524 3,726

Rental revenue 24 122 150 - -
Dividends from subsidiaries 22 - - 5,300 4,780

total operating revenue 207,313 193,593 11,824 8,506

3. OtHER INCOME

note  GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Interest income 84 488 23 43
Government grants received 69 68 - -
Foreign currency gains 1,663 265 - -
other sundry income 76 960 - -

total other income 1,892 1,781 23 43

Canterbury earthquakes insurance claims
expenditure claimed under insurance policies 2,529 4,132 - -
Building damage claim to indemnity value 401 - - -

total income from insurance claims 28 2,930 4,132 - -

total other income including earthquake insurance claims 4,822 5,913 23 43

A summary of the impact from the Canterbury earthquakes on the Group’s results, for the June 2012 year, is reported at Note 28.

4. FINANCE COStS

 GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Interest on bank overdrafts and borrowings 1,574 1,967 - 10
Bank facility fees 521 693 509 680
Interest on finance leases 6 7 - -

total finance costs 2,101 2,667 509 690

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
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5. tAxAtION
(a) Income Statement

note  GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENt INCOME tAx
Current income tax charge/(credit)  11,410  9,555  1,096  375 
prior year adjustments  (655)  136  (3)  61 

DEFERRED INCOME tAx
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (1,068)  (253)  (34)  47 
Due to change in tax rates  (21)  28  -  (3)
prior year adjustments  573  (230)  2  (55)

effect of movements in foreign currencies  (10)  124  -  - 

Income tax expense as per income statement  10,229  9,360  1,061  425 

(b) Amounts charged to other comprehensive income

 GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

RESERvES
Deferred tax on forward exchange and interest rate swap 
derivatives taken to the hedge reserve  17  48  186  -  - 
tax on unrealised foreign exchange gains/(losses) in year 
taken to foreign currency translation reserve  17  (139)  (346)  -  - 
prior year adjustments  17  (282)  813  -  - 

total income tax expense/(credit) relating to 
other comprehensive income  (373)  653  -  - 

(c) Reconciliation

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

profit for the year before tax 34,493 29,560 9,089 6,165
net income from insurance proceeds 401 - - -

total profit as reported 34,894 29,560 9,089 6,165
less tax charge 10,229 9,360 1,061 425

tax percentage 29.3% 31.7% 11.7% 6.9%

Net profit after tax 24,665 20,200 8,028 5,740

tax % at parent company rate 28% 30% 28% 30%
tax at parent company rate 9,770 8,868 2,545 1,850
Due to losses being utilised  (194)  -  -  - 
Due to change in tax rates  (21)  28  -  (3)
Adjustments for prior years  (82)  (94)  -  5 
non deductibles/(non taxables)  (25)  28  (1,484)  (1,427)
effect of different foreign tax rates  679  185  -  - 
Controlled foreign company tax charge  112  221  -  - 
effect of movements in foreign currencies  (10)  124  -  - 

Income tax as per income statement  10,229  9,360  1,061  425 
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(d) Recognised current and deferred tax assets and liabilities

note GRoup

2012  
CuRRent 

InCoMe tAX

2012  
DeFeRReD 

InCoMe tAX

2011  
CuRRent 

InCoMe tAX

2011  
DeFeRReD 

InCoMe tAX

$000 $000 $000 $000

opening balance  (6,311)  894  (1,647)  537 
CHARGED tO INCOME 
Current year charge  (11,410)  1,068  (9,555)  253 
prior year adjustments  655  (573)  (136)  230 
payments/(refunds)  11,580  -  5,695  - 
effect of change in future tax rates  -  21  -  (28)

CHARGED tO OtHER COMPREHENSIvE INCOME
Deferred tax on forward exchange and interest rate swap 
derivatives taken to the hedge reserve  17  -  (48)  -  (186)
tax on unrealised foreign exchange gains in year taken to 
foreign currency revaluation reserve  17  139  -  346  - 
prior year adjustments  17  282  -  (803)  (10)

effect of movements in foreign currencies  (4)  88  (211)  98 

Closing balance  (5,069)  1,450  (6,311)  894 

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet:
tax asset  47  3,333  347  2,646 
tax liability  (5,116)  (1,883)  (6,658)  (1,752)

Net tax asset/(liability)  (5,069)  1,450  (6,311)  894 

GRoup

2012  
DeFeRReD 

InCoMe tAX

2011  
DeFeRReD 

InCoMe tAX

$000 $000

(I) DEFERRED tAx lIABIlItIES
Accelerated depreciation  (2,953)  (3,130)

Gross deferred tax liabilities  (2,953)  (3,130)

(II) DEFERRED tAx ASSEtS
Inventory  567  468 
Annual leave, long service leave (incl. sick leave)  1,525  1,505 
Doubtful debts  185  158 
Warranty  689  679 
unrealised profit on inter-company transactions  682  719 
General  711  222 
Derivatives  (98)  (50)
loss available for future offset  142  323 

Gross deferred tax assets  4,403  4,024 
Set-off deferred tax liabilities  (2,953)  (3,130)

Net deferred tax assets  1,450  894 

the deferred tax asset and liabilities can only be offset if in the same tax jurisdiction.

5. tAxAtION (continued)
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(d) Recognised current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

note pARent

2012  
CuRRent  

InCoMe tAX

2012  
DeFeRReD  

InCoMe tAX

2011  
CuRRent  

InCoMe tAX

2011  
DeFeRReD 

InCoMe tAX

$000 $000 $000 $000

opening balance  (335)  15  37  3 
CHARGED tO INCOME
Current year charge  (1,096)  34  (375)  (47)
prior year adjustment  3  (3)  (61)  56 
payments  416  -  64  - 
effect of change in future tax rates  -  -  -  3 

CHARGED tO OtHER COMPREHENSIvE INCOME  -  -  -  - 

Closing balance  (1,012)  46  (335)  15 

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet:
tax asset  -  46  -  15 
tax liability  (1,012)  -  (335)  - 

Net tax asset/(liability)  (1,012)  46  (335)  15 

pARent

2012  
DeFeRReD 

 InCoMe tAX

2011  
DeFeRReD 

InCoMe tAX

$000 $000

(I) DEFERRED tAx lIABIlItIES
Derivatives - -

Gross deferred tax liabilities - -

(II) DEFERRED tAx ASSEtS
Annual leave, long service leave (incl. sick leave) 10 7
General 36 8

Gross deferred tax assets 46 15

IMPUtAtION CREDIt ACCOUNt

GRoup

2012 2011

$000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  2,955  5,185 
Attached to dividends received  -  - 
Attached to dividends paid 18  (5,703)  (3,680)
Income tax paid/(refunds) in new Zealand  6,023  1,450 

total imputation credits  3,275  2,955 

5. tAxAtION (continued)
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6. ExPENDItURE INClUDED IN NEt PROFIt FOR tHE YEAR 
Net Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: 

note GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

REMUNERAtION OF AUDItORS:
Audit of the financial statements by parent company auditor

new Zealand companies 174 175 69 59
overseas companies 186 174 - -

other services provided by parent company auditor – 
assurance services related to the earthquake insurance 
claims 161 50 - -
other auditors fees for the audit of the financial statements 
in foreign jurisdictions 101 76 - -

total remuneration of auditors 622 475 69 59

EMPlOYEE BENEFItS ExPENSE:
Wages and salaries (including annual leave, long service and sick leave) 44,894 41,298 1,032 727
termination benefits - 28 - -
Defined contribution expense 1,276 1,015 11 9

total employee benefits expense 46,170 42,341 1,043 736

DEPRECIAtION AND AMORtISAtION ExPENSES:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 6,141 6,411 2 1
Amortisation of intangible assets 11 925 880 - -

total depreciation and amortisation expense 7,066 7,291 2 1

lOSS ON DISPOSAl OF PROPERtY,  
PlANt AND EqUIPMENt:

total loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 26 80 - -

PRODUCt DEvElOPMENt COStS:

total product development costs 1,647 676 - -

RENtAlS AND OPERAtING lEASE COStS:

total rentals and operating lease costs 5,536 5,646 35 35

FOREIGN CURRENCY lOSSES: - - - -

INEFFECtIvE PORtION OF CASHFlOw HEDGES:

total ineffective portion of interest rate swaps - 9 - -

CANtERBURY EARtHqUAkES IMPACt:
Impairment of buildings – accelerated depreciation 10 - 1,420 - -
Increased expenses associated with maintaining distribution 
and manufacturing operations 28 2,529 2,712 - -

total Canterbury earthquake expenses 2,529 4,132 - -

These expenses are subject to insurance claims lodged with our underwriters.

A summary of the impact from the Canterbury earthquakes on the group’s results as at 30 June 2012 is reported at note 28.
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7. CASH AND CASH EqUIvAlENtS 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market 
instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

In New Zealand, some companies operate bank accounts in overdraft. Under the Group bank facility overdrafts have a legal right of set off against 
bank accounts in funds. Therefore, only the net in funds position has been disclosed. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year as shown 
in the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows.

All cash is available and under control of the Group, and there are no restrictions relating to the use of the cash balances disclosed.

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash and bank balances 6,170 12,766 1,163 1,579

total cash and bank balances 6,170 12,766 1,163 1,579

8. tRADE AND OtHER RECEIvABlES

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

trade receivables 36,090 34,799 - -
less allowance for doubtful debts 745 624 - -

35,345 34,175 - -

GSt/VAt receivable 525 427 - -
other 4,963 6,056 2,583 110

total trade and other receivables 40,833 40,658 2,583 110

The average credit period for sales of goods is 59 days (2011: 61 days). No interest is charged on the trade receivables.

An allowance for doubtful debts has been determined for specific balances based on management’s assessment of the recoverability of trade and 
other receivables.

Before accepting a new customer, the Group verifies the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and the credit 
performance of the customers are reviewed monthly. Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, $5.83 million (2011: $3.81 million) 
representing 14.5% (2011: 10.9%) of the trade receivables are due from the Group’s three largest customers. The balances due from these customers 
are current and are considered to be a low credit risk to the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $8.96 million (2011: $7.42 million) which are past due but not 
impaired at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided since there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts 
are still considered recoverable. Apart from retention of title, and in some cases, registration of NZ overdue debts on the Personal Property Securities 
Register, the Group does not hold any other collateral over these balances. 

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables:

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

01-30 days 7,306 5,398 - -
31-60 days 1,402 1,252 - -
61 days plus 247 767 - -

total past due trade receivables 8,955 7,417 - -

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:
Balance at the beginning of year  624  816 - -
Impaired losses recognised  160  221 - -
Amounts written off as uncollectable  -  - - -
Impairment losses reversed  (34)  (399) - -
net foreign currency exchange differences  (5)  (14) - -

Balance at the end of year  745  624 - -
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In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date 
credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. 
Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

The impairment recognized represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the present value of the expected 
liquidation proceeds. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The net carrying amount is considered to approximate their fair value.

9. INvENtORIES

 GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Raw materials 9,366 6,706 - -
Work in progress 3,438 3,413 - -
Finished goods 24,421 18,318 - -

total inventories 37,225 28,437 - -

The value of inventories is net of $2.2 million (2011: $1.9 million) in respect of write downs across all categories of inventory to net realisable value. 
All inventory write down movements are included in the cost of sales.

Certain inventories are subject to retention of title clauses where the inventory has not been paid for.

10. PROPERtY, PlANt AND EqUIPMENt

FReeHolD 
lAnD

FReeHolD 
BuIlDInGS

plAnt AnD 
eQuIpMent

FuRnItuRe, 
FIttInGS AnD 

otHeR

totAl

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
Cost
Balance 1 July 2010  175  1,682  52,434  3,353  57,644 

Additions  -  -  6,881  555  7,436 
Disposals  -  -  (574)  (196)  (770)
net foreign currency exchange differences  -  -  (629)  (27)  (656)

Balance 30 June 2011  175  1,682  58,112  3,685  63,654 

Additions  -  -  6,820  613  7,433 
Disposals  -  -  (450)  (216)  (666)
net foreign currency exchange differences  -  -  (791)  (3)  (794)

Balance 30 June 2012  175  1,682  63,691  4,079  69,627 

8. tRADE AND OtHER RECEIvABlES (continued)
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note FReeHolD  
lAnD

FReeHolD 
BuIlDInGS

plAnt AnD 
eQuIpMent

FuRnItuRe, 
FIttInGS AnD 

otHeR

totAl

GROUP $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance 1 July 2010  -  239  16,386  2,367  18,992 

Depreciation expense  6  -  23  5,980  408  6,411 
Impairment expense  -  1,420  -  -  1,420 
Disposals  -  -  (467)  (137)  (604)

net foreign currency exchange differences  -  -  (382)  66  (316)

Balance 30 June 2011  -  1,682  21,517  2,704  25,903 

Depreciation expense  6  -  -  5,769  372  6,141 
Disposals  -  -  (325)  (136)  (461)
net foreign currency exchange differences  -  -  (287)  (20)  (307)

Balance 30 June 2012  -  1,682  26,674  2,920  31,276 

Carrying value      
As at 30 June 2011  175  -  36,595  981  37,751 

As at 30 June 2012  175  -  37,017  1,159  38,351 

Capital expenditure commitments are $3,605,000 (2011: $4,201,000). The increased capital expenditure commitment relates mainly to the 
additional agricultural plant and machinery being installed and commissioned at the Woolston, Christchurch factory, as well as other plant and 
equipment at other subsidiaries.

As a result of the Canterbury earthquakes freehold buildings at the Woolston, Christchurch site have been damaged. An impairment of $1,420,253 
has been recognised in the June 2011 year to account for the damage to freehold buildings. The impairment has been recorded through the corporate 
segment. There has been no further impairment in the 2012 financial year.

note FuRnItuRe, FIttInGS 
AnD otHeR 

PARENt $000

Cost
Balance 1 July 2010 7
Additions 5
Disposals -

Balance 30 June 2011 12
Additions -
Disposals -

Balance 30 June 2012 12
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance 1 July 2010 7
Depreciation expense 6 1
Disposals -

Balance 30 June 2011 8
Depreciation expense 6 2
Disposals -

Balance 30 June 2012 10
Carrying value
As at 30 June 2011 4

As at 30 June 2012 2

10. PROPERtY, PlANt AND EqUIPMENt (continued)
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11. GOODwIll AND INtANGIBlE ASSEtS 

GRoup pARent

note GooDWIll SoFtWARe otHeR 
IntAnGIBle 

ASSetS

totAl

GROUP $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cost
Balance 1 July 2010  46,031  7,527  -  53,558  - 

Additions  -  150  120  270  - 
Disposals  -  (94)  -  (94)  - 
net foreign currency exchange differences  (488)  (9)  -  (497)  - 

Balance 30 June 2011  45,543  7,574  120  53,237  - 

Additions  -  282  -  282  - 
Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 
net foreign currency exchange differences  (986)  76  (3)  (913)  - 

Balance 30 June 2012  44,557  7,932  117  52,606  -

GROUP

Accumulated amortisation
Balance 1 July 2010  -  2,650  -  2,650  - 

Disposals  -  (94)  -  (94)  - 
Amortisation expense 6  -  880  -  880  - 

Balance 30 June 2011  -  3,436  -  3,436  - 

Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 
Amortisation expense 6  -  808  117  925  - 

Balance 30 June 2012  -  4,244  117  4,361  - 

Carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets 
as at 30 June 2011  45,543  4,138  120  49,801  - 

As at 30 June 2012  44,557  3,688  -  48,245  - 

Impairment tests for goodwill
(i)  Description of cash generating units
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the business units acquired. Subsequent business reorganisations within the 
Group have resulted in the original cash generating unit being combined with other Group businesses.

In such circumstances the original goodwill has been allocated across the combined cash generating unit to fairly determine the recoverable amount 
against the value in use.

The goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit is as follows:

2012 2011

$000 $000 

CASH GENERAtING UNIt
Gulf Rubber / tumedei / Skellerup Rubber Services 31,130 32,047
Ambic equipment 6,741 6,747
Deks Industries 4,504 4,568
thorndon Rubber 1,751 1,750
Stevens Filterite 431 431

total goodwill 44,557 45,543

The net present value of future estimated cashflows exceed the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit based on 
a value in use calculation. A discount rate of 12.90% (2011: 12.15%) has been applied to discount future cashflows to their present value.

The Gulf Rubber/Tumedei/Skellerup Rubber Services Goodwill makes up 69.7% (2011: 70.4%) of the total Group Goodwill. Although this cash 
generating unit carries a significant portion of the total Group Goodwill, it does reflect the value attached to these operations and the opportunities 
available for this cash generating unit to produce consistent growth in operating cash flows. At the impairment test date, the Net Present Value of 
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future cash flows being the value in use, exceeds the carrying value by 46.4% (2011: 62.9%) for this cash generating unit. The reduction from the 
previous year reflects the costs of expanding into the USA markets for which the full benefit of the revenue has yet to be generated.

The remaining cash generating units which hold 30.3% (2011: 29.6%) of the Goodwill, collectively report their net present value of future cash flows 
above their carrying value by 72.5% (2011: 88.6%).

(ii) Assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount
The future cashflows generated have been determined from the strategic quantifications and detailed budgets undertaken by management as part 
of the annual business planning that is reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors. Such forecasts analyse and quantify a range of growth 
objectives which form the basis for determining the business growth and direction over the next five years.

For periods beyond 2012, we anticipate that trading conditions will continue to improve through new product developments, established customer 
relationships and expansion into new and existing niche markets.

The cash flow in perpetuity is represented by the realisation value of the net assets at book value in the fifth year. A check for reasonableness has been 
made by determining the price earnings ratio on EBITDA to ensure this is within an acceptable range. 

A number of attributes contribute to the overall growth of these businesses over the future five year period under review. The revenue growth 
percentages range from approximately -5.2% to +11.8% per annum over the five years across the individual cash generating units.

Key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:

Revenue assumptions
Revenues have been forecasted to show moderate increases over the following five-year period in line with our strategic business plans to develop 
and introduce new products, in addition to continuing to support and grow our existing global customer relationships.

Discount rate assumptions
The discount rate is intended to reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to each cash generating unit achieving their forecasted cash 
flows. In determining the appropriate discount rate regard has been given to the weighted average cost of capital of the Group, which has been 
updated as at 30 June 2012, to reflect the current market interest rates and the additional cost of capital applicable in the current risk environment.

Commodity cost pricing assumptions
With the base raw material component being synthetic and natural rubbers sourced from Asia, the pricing of these raw materials can fluctuate 
with many of the synthetics being a by-product of the petrochemical industry, and natural rubbers being influenced by global supply and demand 
influences. Pricing assumptions have been made in our forecasts that any cost increases driven by commodity price changes will be passed through 
to the market.

Market share assumptions
In preparing our forecasts, our business plans show no loss of market share. Our strategy is to expand into global markets particularly in Europe 
and United States of America. Through the Gulf Rubber/Tumedei/Skellerup Rubber Services cash generating unit, we have in our business plans 
opportunities to expand into these new markets and increase our market share.

Growth rate assumptions
The growth rates have been based on business plan assumptions applied in preparation of the annual budgets for the new financial year and the 
following four years. This is based on key strategies that have been quantified at a product and customer level, reviewed by senior management, 
and signed off by the Board of Directors.

(iii) Sensitivity to assumption changes
Estimates made of future cash flows are based on current market conditions. With trading across a number of different products covering a wide 
industry base, and through a number of international markets, the risk of significant change to cash flow projections is mitigated. Any change in future 
cash flow projections, which is influenced by price changes, foreign currency movements and competitor activities, will only have minimal impact, and 
is unlikely to cause an impairment risk of the Goodwill allocated to the various cash generating units, particularly with the net present value of each 
cash generating unit reported being significantly above the carrying value of the net assets.

12. INvEStMENtS AND ADvANCES

note GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Debenture note (secured)  -  1,000  -  - 
Investment in subsidiaries 22  -  -  1,685  46,633 
Advance to subsidiaries 22  -  -  66,464  27,890 

total investments and advances  -  1,000  68,149  74,523

During the year, $44,948,000 of investment in subsidiaries has been transferred from the parent company to subsidiary holding companies within 
the Group representing the agri and industrial segmentation as defined in Note 25.

The debenture note relates to vendor finance provided to Tiri Group Limited on divestment of the non core business in April 2008. The note was 
interest bearing with a fixed rate. The debenture was repaid on 30 October 2011. The interest rate applicable up to repayment date was 12.3% 
(2011: 12.3%) per annum.
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13. tRADE AND OtHER PAYABlES

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

trade payables 11,057 12,087 - -
employee entitlements 1,815 2,582 207 -
Accident Compensation Commission partnership accrual 246 261 - -
Sundry payables and accruals 12,549 8,271 283 137
GSt payable 806 717 584 530

total trade and other payables 26,473 23,918 1,074 667

The average credit period on purchases of all goods and services represents an average of 35 days’ credit (2011: 41 days’ credit). The Group has 
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are met within acceptable terms and conditions of purchase.

Accident Compensation Corporation Partnership Programme:
The liability for the Accident Compensation Corporation Partnership Programme is measured at the present value of anticipated future payments 
to be made in respect of the employee injuries and claims in New Zealand up to the reporting date using actuarial techniques. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, and experience of employee claims and injuries.

Expected future payments are discounted using year end market yields on government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely to possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The Group manages its exposure arising from the programme by promoting a safe and healthy working environment by:

•	 implementing and monitoring health and safety policies;

•	 induction training on health and safety;

•	 actively managing work place injuries to ensure employees return to work as soon as practical;

•	 recording and monitoring work place injuries and near misses to identify risk areas and implementing mitigating actions; and

•	 identification of work place hazards and implementation of appropriate safety procedures.

A stop loss limit of 250% of the industry standard levy premium has been agreed with the Accident Compensation Corporation to limit the annual 
exposure of all claims in New Zealand. In addition, a high claim cost cover has been introduced to limit any single claim, in any year, to $250,000 
in New Zealand.

The Group is not exposed to any significant concentrations of insurance risk as work related injuries are generally the result of an isolated event  
to an individual employee.

An external independent actuarial valuer, Mark Weaver [B.A. (Econometrics) FIAA, FINZA)] of Melville, Jessup and Weaver, has calculated the Group’s 
liability, and this valuation is effective 30 June 2012. There are no qualifications contained in the actuarial valuer’s report. The value of the liability 
at 30 June 2012, which has been recognised on the Balance Sheet, is $100,000 (2011: $124,000).

There have been no changes to the assumptions applied, from the 2011 year, for determining this valuation.

The value of this liability has been classified as a current liability on the Balance Sheet.
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14. PROvISIONS

 GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

PROvISIONS
employee entitlements 6,900 6,596 34 28
Warranties 2,341 2,416 - -

total provisions 9,241 9,012 34 28

Current 7,929 8,047 34 28
non-current 1,312 965 - -

total provisions 9,241 9,012 34 28

WARRAntIeS

$000

GROUP
Balance 1 July 2010 1,622
Additional provisions recognised 1,089
Reductions arising from payments / sacrifices of economic benefits (299)
Reductions arising from remeasurement or settlement without cost (1)
net foreign currency exchange differences 5

Balance 30 June 2011 2,416

Additional provisions recognised 406
Reductions arising from payments / sacrifices of economic benefits (471)
Reductions arising from remeasurement or settlement without cost (7)
net foreign currency exchange differences (3)

Balance 30 June 2012 2,341

(i)  The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave, sick leave and long service leave entitlements accrued and compensation claims 
made by employees. Long service leave is based on the various subsidiaries’ company policies.

(ii)  The provision for warranty claims represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that will 
be required under the Group’s various product warranty programmes. The estimate has been made on the basis of historical warranty trends and 
may vary as a result of new materials, altered manufacturing processes or other events affecting product quality.
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15. INtERESt BEARING lOANS AND BORROwINGS

note GRoup pARent

eFFeCtIVe 
InteReSt RAte

CARRyInG 
AMount

CARRyInG 
AMount

BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2012
CURRENt lIABIlItIES
SECURED

obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 24 7.00% 102 -

total current liabilities 102 -

NON-CURRENt lIABIlItIES
SECURED

at amortised cost
BAnK loAnS

AuD term loans  AuD  7,000 5.73% 8,948 -
euR term loan  euR  800 2.36% 1,265 -

10,213 -

obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 24 7.00% 108 -

total non-current liabilities 10,321 -

BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2011
CURRENt lIABIlItIES
SECURED

obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 24 8.22% 94 -

total current liabilities 94 -

NON-CURRENt lIABIlItIES
SECURED

at amortised cost
BAnK loAnS

AuD term loans  AuD  15,520 6.86% 20,101 -
euR term loan  euR  800 2.88% 1,402 -

21,503 -

obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 24 8.22% 249 -

total non-current liabilities 21,752 -

The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate fair value.

The bank loans are under a multi currency facility agreement with ANZ National Bank Limited which has a review date maturing in August 2014.

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest 
and foreign exchange rates. Details of these derivatives are included in Note 20.

Apart from the assets held by Skellerup Rubber Products Jiangsu Limited and some of the assets held by Tumedei SpA, the carrying amount of tangible 
assets totaling $122.0m are pledged as security to the bank to secure the above term loans.

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
52



16. CONtRIBUtED EqUItY

note 2012 2011

nuMBeR oF 
SHAReS

VAlue  
$000

VAlue  
$000

ordinary shares
Balance 30 June 2012 192,805,807 69,732 69,732

Redeemable ordinary shares
Balance 30 June 2012 23 1,947,533 - -

On 26 October 2011, 1,947,533 redeemable ordinary shares were issued by the parent company in support of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme. 
The shares were all subscribed for by the Skellerup Holdings Employee Trustee Company Limited which will hold the shares in trust on behalf of the 
Chief Executive, David Mair.

The shares have been paid to 1 cent per share which has been credited to the employee share plan reserve. The balance is payable when the 
shares convert to ordinary shares under the terms of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme, at which time the amount paid will be classified 
as contributed equity.

 GRoup AnD pARent

nuMBeR oF 
SHAReS

VAlue  
$000

Balance 1 July 2010 191,147,928 68,198
ordinary shares issued in lieu of dividends under the dividend reinvestment scheme on 21 october 2010 1,657,879 1,534

Balance 30 June 2011 192,805,807 69,732

Balance 30 June 2012 192,805,807 69,732

All shares are fully paid, carry one vote per share, carry equal rights to dividends and have no par value. Further details relating to the dividends paid are 
disclosed under Retained Earnings in Note 18.

Capital Management
When managing capital, the directors’ objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern, as well as maintaining optimal returns 
to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

The directors aim to provide a capital structure which:

•	 Provides an efficient and cost effective source of funds;

•	 Is balanced with external debt to provide a secure structure to support the short and long term funding of the group;

•	 The ratio of funds sourced from shareholders and external debt is maintained proportionately at a level which does not create a credit and liquidity 
risk to the Group.

With the parent being listed on the NZ Exchange, there are continuous disclosure obligations to inform shareholders and the market of any matters 
which affect the capital of the parent company. This includes changes to the capital structure, new share issues, dividend payments, and any other 
significant matter which affects the credit worthiness or liquidity of the Group.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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17. RESERvES

note GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

 $000 $000 $000 $000

RESERvE BAlANCES
Cash flow hedge reserve 242 125 - -
Foreign currency translation reserve (9,443) (9,109) - -
employee share plan reserve 90 - 90 -

total reserves (9,111) (8,984) 90 -

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FlOw HEDGE RESERvE
Balance at beginning of year 125 (307) - -

Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 16 215 - -
Interest rate swaps 143 424 - -
Income tax related to gains /(losses) recognised in other 
comprehensive income 5 (48) (186) - -

prior year adjustment for tax 5 - (10) - -
effect of movement in foreign currencies 6 (11) - -

Movement for the year 117 432 - -

Balance at end of year 242 125 - -

FOREIGN CURRENCY tRANSlAtION RESERvE
Balance at beginning of year (9,109) (5,007) - -

Gain/(loss) recognition:
translation of net investments (1,499) (2,483) - -
translation of foreign operations 744 (1,162) - -
Income tax related to gains/(losses) recognised in other 
comprehensive income 5 139 346 - -

prior year adjustment for tax 5 282 (803) - -

Movement for the year (334) (4,102) - -

Balance at end of year (9,443) (9,109) - -

The cash flow hedge reserve is intended to recognise the fair value movements of the effective derivatives held to hedge interest rate and foreign 
currency risk.

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries into New Zealand dollars are brought 
to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. Gains and losses on hedging instruments that are designated as hedges 
of net investments in foreign operations, are also included in the foreign currency translation reserve.

EMPlOYEE SHARE PlAN RESERvE
Cash contribution received 19 - 19 -
expense recognised for the year 71 - 71 -

Balance at end of year 23 90 - 90 -

The employee share plan reserve is used to record the value of share based scheme provided to the Chief Executive under the Chief Executive’s share 
based incentive scheme as part of his remuneration. 
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18. REtAINED EARNINGS

GRoup pARent

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year 49,577 38,006 5,469 8,364
net profit for the year 24,665 20,200 8,028 5,740
payment of dividends (13,491) (8,629) (13,496) (8,635)

Balance at end of year 60,751 49,577 1 5,469

During the reported period a dividend of 4.0 cents per share was paid on 21 October 2011 and 3.0 cents per share on 30 March 2012. All dividends 
paid were fully imputed with imputation tax credits totaling $5,702,610.

The Group dividend for 2012 is less than the Parent due to dividends retained by the Group on shares held by the Employee Share Trustee Company. 

The Group suspended the dividend reinvestment plan for dividends paid after 21 October 2010. 

 2012  2011

CentS peR 
SHARe 

totAl 
DIVIDenD

IMputAtIon 
CReDItS

CentS peR 
SHARe 

totAl 
DIVIDenD

$000 $000 $000

DIvIDENDS 
Fully paid ordinary shares

Final – prior year 4.0 7,712 3,278 2.5 4,779
Interim – current year 3.0 5,784 2,425 2.0 3,856

7.0 13,496 5,703 4.5 8,635

19. EARNINGS PER SHARE

GRoup

2012 2011

CentS peR 
SHARe

CentS peR 
SHARe

BASIC AND DIlUtED

total earnings per share 12.793 10.504
the net tangible asset per share 37.13 30.96 

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of earnings per share are as follows:

GRoup

2012 2011

$000 $000

net profit for the year 24,665 20,200

Earnings used in the calculation of earnings per share 24,665 20,200

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of earnings per share 192,805,807 192,297,088
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20. FINANCIAl INStRUMENtS
Detail of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis 
in which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument, are disclosed  
in the Statement of Accounting Policies.

Categories of financial instruments 

CASH &  
BAnK 

BAlAnCeS

tRADe &  
otHeR 

ReCeIVABleS

DeRIVAtIVeS DeBentuRe 
note

totAl 
FInAnCIAl 

ASSetS

FINANCIAl ASSEtS $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2012
Fair value through profit and loss 6,170 - - - 6,170
loans and receivables - 40,833 - - 40,833
Hedge instruments - - 558 - 558
Held to maturity - - - - -

total financial assets 6,170 40,833 558 - 47,561
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2011
Fair value through profit and loss 12,766 - - - 12,766
loans and receivables - 40,658 - - 40,658
Hedge instruments - - 525 - 525
Held to maturity - - - 1,000 1,000

total financial assets 12,766 40,658 525 1,000 54,949
PARENt
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2012
Fair value through profit and loss 1,163 - - - 1,163
loans and receivables - 2,583 - - 2,583

total financial assets 1,163 2,583 - - 3,746
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2011
Fair value through profit and loss 1,579 - - - 1,579
loans and receivables - 110 - - 110

total financial assets 1,579 110 - - 1,689

tRADe &  
otHeR 

pAyABleS

DeRIVAtIVeS BoRRoWInGS totAl 
FInAnCIAl 
lIABIlItIeS

FINANCIAl lIABIlItIES $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2012
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
Hedge instruments - 254 - 254
other financial liabilities 26,473 - 10,423 36,896

total financial liabilities 26,473 254 10,423 37,150
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2011
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
Hedge instruments - 420 - 420
other financial liabilities 23,918 - 21,846 45,764

total financial liabilities 23,918 420 21,846 46,184
PARENt
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2012
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
other financial liabilities 1,074 - - 1,074

total financial liabilities 1,074 - - 1,074
BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2011
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
other financial liabilities 667 - - 667

total financial liabilities 667 - - 667

Where the financial assets and financial liabilities are shown at amortised cost, their cost would approximate fair value.
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Instruments used by the Group
Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest and 
foreign exchange rates.

Details of the derivatives held and their fair value at balance date was as follows:

GRoup pARent

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENt ASSEtS
Forward currency contract – cash flow hedge 505 430 - -

NON-CURRENt ASSEtS
Forward currency contract – cash flow hedge 53 95 - -

total assets 558 525 - -
CURRENt lIABIlItIES

Forward currency contracts – cash flow hedge 13 9 - -
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 238 282 - -

total current liabilities 251 291 - -

NON-CURRENt lIABIlItIES
Forward currency contracts – cash flow hedge - 1 - -
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 3 128 - -

total non current liabilities 3 129 - -

total liabilities 254 420 - -

(i) Forward exchange contracts 
The Group imports a large proportion of its raw materials and finished goods, and has export sales to a number of customers. As a result, the Group 
has both inward and outward foreign currency cash flows. Both the inward cash flows and the outward cash flows are tested and hedged against 
highly probable forecasted sales and purchases. The main currency exposures are in US dollars, Euros, Australian dollars and British Pounds.

At balance date, details of outstanding foreign currency contracts are as follows:

  notIonAl AMount   AVeRAGe eXCHAnGe RAteS

2012 2011 2012 2011

nZ$000 nZ$000

BUY NZD / SEll EUR 2,730 4,582 0.5576 0.5181
Maturing 1-15 months (2011: 1-15 months)
BUY NZD / SEll GBP 1,699 1,331 0.4857 0.4508
Maturing 3-15 months (2011: 1-15 months)
BUY NZD / SEll USD 2,955 - 0.7446 -
Maturing 9-15 months (2011: n/A)
BUY NZD / SEll AUD 9,456 - 0.7825 -
Maturing 3-15 months (2011: n/A)
BUY EUR / SEll AUD 480 1,018 0.7653 0.7153
Maturing 1-12 months (2011: n/A)
BUY GBP / SEll EUR 1,186 - 0.8134 -
Maturing 1-15 months (2011: n/A)
BUY EUR / SEll USD - 121 - 1.4409
Maturing n/A (2011: 1-3 months)
BUY AUD / SEll GBP - 291 - 0.6406
Maturing n/A (2011: 1-6 months)

The forward currency contracts are considered to be highly effective hedges as they are matched against forecasted inventory purchases and export 
sales, and any gain or loss on the contracts attributable to the hedge risk is taken directly to other comprehensive income. Amounts are transferred out 
of other comprehensive income and included in the measurement of the hedged transaction (sales or purchases) when the forecast transaction occurs.

Movements in the cash flow hedge reserve are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(ii) Interest rate swaps - cashflow hedges 
Interest bearing loans of the Group bear an average variable interest rate of 5.56% (2011: 5.35%). In order to protect against interest rate 
volatility, the Group entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it has the right to receive interest at variable rates and pay interest at fixed 
rates. Swaps in place cover approximately 50.1% (2011: 63.2%) of the principal outstanding. The fixed interest rates are 7.26% (2011: 7.26% 
and 7.39%).

20. FINANCIAl INStRUMENtS (continued)
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At 30 June 2012, the notional principal amounts and period of expiry of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

GRoup pARent

 MAtuRIty DAte 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

AUD AuD
AuD Swap 7.26% 4-Jul-13 4,000 4,000 - -
AuD Swap 7.39% 30-Jan-12 - 6,500 - -

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable each quarter. Swaps which are matched directly against the appropriate loans and 
interest expense are considered highly effective. These swaps are measured at fair value and all gains attributable to the hedge risk are taken directly 
to other comprehensive income and reclassified to the Income Statement when the interest expense is recognised.

Movement in the Cashflow Hedge Reserve is recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operations 
As at June 2012, the following foreign currency loans were held as a designated hedge of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries in Australia and 
Italy. Surplus operating cash flow has resulted in the borrowing held in Australian dollars being partially repaid during the year.

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Australian Dollar AUD  7,000 AuD  15,520 - -
euro EUR  800 euR  800 - -

Credit risk
Credit Risk arises from potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations at maturity of contracts. Because the counterparty of the above 
financial derivatives is the ANZ National Bank Ltd, there is minimal credit risk.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
The Group, through its foreign subsidiaries, holds monetary assets and liabilities that are in a currency other than the parent’s base currency. These 
foreign currency values provide a translation risk to the Group. The monetary assets and liabilities consist primarily of trade receivables, trade creditors 
and cash as follows:

2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

CuRRent 
ASSetS

CuRRent 
lIABIlItIeS

net MonetARy 
ASSetS

CuRRent 
ASSetS

CuRRent 
lIABIlItIeS

net MonetARy 
ASSetS

uSD 4,061 2,369 1,692 3,399 2,968 431
AuD 11,160 2,720 8,440 14,914 3,133 11,781
Cny 15,388 4,074 11,315 15,441 4,070 11,371
GBp 1,164 230 934 1,635 212 1,423
euR 2,737 1,264 1,473 2,895 980 1,915

NZD equivalent 28,960 9,682 19,279 34,547 10,531 24,016

21. FINANCIAl RISk MANAGEMENt OBJECtIvES AND POlICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of receivables, payables, bank loans and overdrafts, cash and derivatives. Because of these 
financial instruments, the principal financial risks to the Group are movements in foreign currency and interest rates. Credit risk and liquidity risk are also 
considered to be risk areas and therefore closely managed.

The Group enters into derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts. The purpose is to manage the 
interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These include monitoring levels of exposure 
to interest rate and foreign exchange risk by reviewing trading forecasts that impact on these areas.

Credit risk is managed through regular review of aged analysis of receivable ledgers. The credit risk exposures are the receivables recorded in Note 8. 
The management of this credit risk is also stated in Note 8.

Liquidity risk is monitored through the review of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

These cash flow forecasts are updated on a weekly basis with particular emphasis placed on the prospective four week period. These forecasts are 
constantly monitored against limitations of the entire debt facility.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing financial risk.

20. FINANCIAl INStRUMENtS (continued)
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Risk exposures and responses
(i) Interest rate risk 
The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations.

The level of debt is disclosed in Note 15.

At Balance Date the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rates that are not designated in cash 
flow hedges:

GRoup pARent

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

FINANCIAl ASSEtS
Cash and cash equivalents 6,170 12,766 1,163 1,579

FINANCIAl lIABIlItIES
Bank loans 5,100 7,904 - -

Net exposure 1,070 4,862 1,163 1,579

Interest rate swap contracts in Note 20 (ii), with a fair value of $240,948 (2011: $409,503), are exposed to fair value movements if interest 
rates change. 

The Group’s policy is to constantly monitor its interest rate exposure and to hedge the volatility arising from interest rate changes by entering into 
interest rate swap contracts that cover a minimum of 50% of the variable interest rate debt. At 30 June 2012, the Group held interest rate swaps 
which covered 50.1% (2011: 63.2%) of the variable interest rate debt.

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposure in existence at balance date. With all other variables held constant, post tax 
profit and other comprehensive income would be affected as follows:

net pRoFIt AFteR tAX  
HIGHeR/(loWeR)

otHeR CoMpReHenSIVe  
InCoMe  

HIGHeR/(loWeR)

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
+1% (100 basis points) (37) (55) 25 194
-0.5% (50 basis points) 18 28 12 (97)
PARENt
+1% (100 basis points) - - - -
-0.5% (50 basis points) - - - -

Significant assumptions used in the interest rate sensitivity analysis:
(a)  Current sources of funds will be available to the Group in the future on similar terms and pricing that have been experienced since the last debt 

renewal in September 2010.

(b)  The relationship with Group bankers will remain strong and confident.

(c)  The level of debt and gearing ratios will remain at a level which will not cause bankers to consider a change in the risk profile of the Group.

(d)  The net exposure at balance date is representative of what the Group has experienced, and is likely to experience in the next twelve months.

(e)  The effect on other comprehensive income is the effect on the cashflow hedge reserve for those derivatives which have an effective hedge.

(ii) Foreign currency risk
The Group imports raw materials and finished goods, and exports finished goods to a number of foreign customers. The main foreign currencies traded 
are US dollars, Euro, Australian dollars, and British Pounds.

The Group seeks to cover 80% to 100% of the net foreign currency cash flow forecast, for the next 12 month period with foreign currency contracts. 
Where the foreign currency cash flows can be reliably forecasted beyond the future 12 month period, such cash flows are also covered by foreign 
currency contracts to 80% of the forecast cash flows.

The Group also has translational currency exposures. Such exposures arise from subsidiary operating entities who transact in currencies other than the 
Group’s functional currency. The Group has hedged the Net Investment in these foreign subsidiaries by converting some of the external borrowings 
into same denominated currencies as the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary. However, with the reduction in external borrowings from 
repayments made from operating cash flows, the ability to hold external borrowings in an equivalent currency to the net investment in the foreign 
subsidiary has become limited.

21. FINANCIAl RISk MANAGEMENt OBJECtIvES AND POlICIES (continued)
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Foreign Currency Net Monetary Assets
As at 30 June 2012 the Group has the following net monetary assets in foreign currency values which are in a different currency to the subsidiary’s 
base currency and will revalue either through the income statement or statement of comprehensive income:

 CASH &
CASH 

eQuIVAlentS

ReCeIVABleS pAyABleS net MonetARy 
ASSetS

$000 $000 $000 $000

30 JUNE 2012
uSD 658 7,556 3,066 5,148
AuD 86 3,088 213 2,961
GBp 268 636 203 701
euR 174 1,312 163 1,323
nZD - 51 384 (333)

30 JUNE 2011
uSD 1,683 5,487 3,459 3,711
AuD 109 1,671 73 1,707
GBp 283 653 237 699
euR 154 876 211 819
nZD - 51 44 7

The foreign currency denominated values as shown in the above table converted to New Zealand Dollars as follows:

GRoup pARent

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

FINANCIAl ASSEtS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,732 2,990 - -
trade and other receivables 16,752 11,642 - -

18,484 14,632 - -
FINANCIAl lIABIlItIES

trade and other payables 5,144 5,105 - -

Net exposure 13,340 9,527 - -

The above monetary assets and liabilities will revalue through the income statement or the statement of comprehensive income if the foreign 
exchange rate for New Zealand Dollars moves relative to other denominated foreign currencies. The impact of the entries through the income 
statement or the statement of comprehensive income would be as follows:

net pRoFIt AFteR tAX  
HIGHeR / (loWeR)

net eQuIty  
HIGHeR / (loWeR)

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
Foreign currency rates

Increase +10%  (838)  (598)  (838)  (598)
Decrease -5%  485  346  485  346 

PARENt
Foreign currency rates

Increase +10%  -  -  -  - 
Decrease -5%  -  -  -  - 

The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end financial assets and liabilities do not reflect the 
exposure during the year.

Significant assumptions used in the foreign currency exposure sensitivity analysis:

(a)  The range of possible foreign exchange rate movements was determined by a review of the last two years’ historical movements and economists’ 
view of future movements.

(b)  The Group’s trend of trading in foreign currency values is not expected to change materially over future periods.

(c)  Apart from repayment of foreign currency loans over the reporting period, the Group’s net exposure to foreign currency at balance date 
is representative of past periods and is expected to remain relatively consistent for the future twelve month period.
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(d)  The price sensitivity of derivatives has been based on a reasonably possible movement of the spot rate applied at balance date.

(e)  The effect on other comprehensive income results from foreign currency revaluations through the cash flow hedge reserve and the foreign currency 
translation reserve.

(f)  The sensitivity analysis does not include financial instruments that are non monetary items as these are not considered to give rise to a currency risk.

(iii) Credit risk
All customers who trade with any Group subsidiary on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures including an assessment of their 
independent credit rating and financial position. Risk limits are set for individual customers according to their risk profile and where it is considered 
appropriate, registrations are made on the Personal Property Security Register for debts outstanding in New Zealand to record a secured interest in 
the products supplied.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with appropriate provisions held for doubtful debts.

(iv) Liquidity risk 
The Group monitors its future cash inflows and outflows through rolling cashflow forecasts. 

At balance date the liquidity risk is considered to be low with the bank facility not fully drawn, compliance with bank covenants, and forecasted 
cashflows reporting positive operating cash generation for the Group over the next financial year. The following maturity analysis shows the profile 
of future payment commitments of the Group. With the available bank facility and the ability for the business to generate future positive operating 
cash inflows, the obligation to meet the forward commitments is considered to be a low risk.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities 
The following table represents both the expected and contractual maturity and cash flows of receipts and payments. There is a further analysis of 
future operating lease commitments under Note 24 which are not included in this analysis.

0-6 MontHS 7-12 MontHS 1-5 yeARS oVeR 5 yeARS totAl

BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2012 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
FINANCIAl ASSEtS
Cash and cash equivalents  6,170  -  -  -  6,170 
trade and other receivables  39,307  1,526  -  -  40,833 
Derivatives  294  211  53  -  558 

 45,771  1,737  53  -  47,561 
FINANCIAl lIABIlItIES
trade and other payables  22,579  3,894  -  -  26,473 
Interest bearing loans  53  49  10,321  -  10,423 
Derivatives  248  3  3  -  254 

 22,880  3,946  10,324  -  37,150 

Net total  22,891  (2,209)  (10,271)  -  10,411 

The negative cash position in years 1-5 is the result of the term debt expiring in August 2014. It is anticipated that the term debt facility will 
be renewed prior to the expiry date.

0-6 MontHS 7-12 MontHS 1-5 yeARS oVeR 5 yeARS totAl

BAlANCE 30 JUNE 2011 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUP
FINANCIAl ASSEtS
Cash and cash equivalents  12,766  -  -  -  12,766 
trade and other receivables  39,862  796  -  -  40,658 
Derivatives  215  215  95  -  525 
Debenture note  -  1,123  -  -  1,123 

 52,843  2,134  95  -  55,072 
FINANCIAl lIABIlItIES
trade and other payables  22,164  1,754  -  -  23,918 
Interest bearing loans  629  629  22,048  -  23,306 
Derivatives  146  145  129  -  420 

 22,939  2,528  22,177  -  47,644 

Net total  29,904  (394)  (22,082)  -  7,428 
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(v) Fair Value
Under the International Financial Reporting Standards there are three methods available for estimating fair value of financial instruments.

The methods are:

Level 1 - the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2 -  the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either 
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 -  the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

In determining the fair value of all financial instruments, the Group has applied the Level 2 method of fair value by using estimated inputs, other than 
quoted prices, that are observable for assets and liabilities, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Financial instruments that use valuation techniques with only observable market inputs include interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts.

The financial instruments that have been fair valued by the Group are detailed in Note 20 and have a fair value of $304,000 (2011: $105,000).

22. RElAtED PARtIES 
a) Subsidiary Companies
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the following significant companies:

CountRy oF InCoRpoRAtIon HolDInG BAlAnCe DAte

2012 2011

Skellerup Agri Holdings limited new Zealand 100% - 30-Jun
Skellerup Industrial Holdings limited new Zealand 100% - 30-Jun
Skellerup Footwear limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Skellerup Industries limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*ultralon products (nZ) limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Skellerup BRC limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Flomax International limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Stevens Filterite limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*thorndon Rubber Co. limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Rubber Services limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Skellerup Rubber Services limited new Zealand 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Deks Industries pty limited Australia 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Jenco products pty limited Australia 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Gulf Rubber Australia pty limited Australia 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Skellerup Rubber products Jiangsu limited China 100% 100% 30-Jun
*tumedei SpA Italy 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Ambic equipment limited united Kingdom 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Conewango products Corp united States of America 100% 100% 30-Jun
*Gulf uS Inc. united States of America 100% - 30-Jun
*Masport Inc. united States of America 100% 100% 30-Jun

Skellerup Agri Holdings limited is non trading.

Skellerup Industrial Holdings limited is non trading. 

Skellerup Footwear limited is a property owning company. 

*Held indirectly by the parent company through its direct subsidiaries: 

Skellerup Industries limited is involved in the manufacture and distribution of dairy rubber products, industrial rubber products, rural supplies and 
vacuum pumps in New Zealand and internationally.

Ultralon Products (NZ) limited is involved in the manufacture and distribution of closed cell polyethylene and ethyl vinyl acetate foam products 
in New Zealand and internationally. 

Skellerup BRC limited is non trading. 

Flomax International limited was involved in the manufacture and distribution of vacuum pumps and associated equipment in New Zealand 
and internationally. Distribution of vacuum pumps and associated equipment is now managed through Skellerup Industries Limited. 

Stevens Filterite limited manufactures milk filters for distribution in New Zealand and Australia. 

thorndon Rubber Co. limited specialises in the recovering of rubber rollers for the printing industry. 

Rubber Services limited is non trading. 

Skellerup Rubber Services limited manufactures and distributes moulded and extruded technical polymer products for the New Zealand market.

Deks Industries Pty limited manufactures, distributes and markets rubber products for the building, plumbing and construction markets 
in New Zealand, Australia, North America and Europe. 
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Jenco Products Pty limited is non trading, with the products now distributed to the Australian plumbing industry through 
Deks Industries Pty Limited. 

Gulf Rubber Australia Pty limited is involved in the design and manufacture of highly technical rubber and associated polymer products for the 
Australian and North American markets.

Skellerup Rubber Products Jiangsu limited manufactures rubber footwear and vacuum pumps in China for the New Zealand, Australian and 
North American markets. 

tumedei SpA manufactures, markets and distributes highly technical polymer products for European markets.

Ambic Equipment limited is a marketer and distributor of products for dairy cattle teat hygiene in the United Kingdom, North America, Australia 
and New Zealand markets.

Conewango Products Corp. distributes dairy rubberware in the North American market. 

Gulf US Inc. distributes highly technical rubber and associated polymer products in the North American market. 

Masport Inc. distributes vacuum pumps and associated equipment in the North American market.

(b) Transactions with related parties

ADVAnCeS to 
SuBSIDIARIeS

InVeStMentS In 
SuBSIDIARIeS

totAl

Balance 1 July 2010  30,096  46,633  76,729 
Funds paid to/(repaid by) subsidiaries  (2,206)  -  (2,206)

Balance 30 June 2011  27,890  46,633  74,523 

Funds paid to subsidiaries  38,574  -  38,574 
Funds received from the transfer of subsidiaries from the parent company to subsidiary 
holding companies  -  (44,948)  (44,948)

total funds paid to/(received from) subsidiaries for the year  38,574  (44,948)  (6,374)

Balance 30 June 2012  66,464  1,685  68,149 

During the year, $44,948,000 of investment in subsidiaries has been transferred from the parent company to subsidiary holding companies within the 
Group representing the agri and industrial segmentation as defined in Note 25.

The parent company provides a treasury service to all subsidiary companies. Funds are advanced and banking facilities arranged to ensure each 
subsidiary has sufficient funds available for trading. There are no maturity dates for these advances and interest is charged to foreign subsidiaries. 
Interest rates charged range from 2%-7% per annum. The advances are unsecured. There has been no forgiveness of debt.

PGG Wrightson Limited is considered to be a related party due to the directorship held by Sir Selwyn Cushing. Sales by the Group for the year 
amounted to $1,902,461 (2011: $1,840,645) with $433,560 owing at 30 June 2012 (2011: $487,637).

The parent company receives management fees and dividends from its subsidiaries. Management fee and dividend income was as follows:

pARent

2012 2011

$000 $000 

Management fees 6,524 3,726
Dividends 5,300 4,780

total management fees and dividends 11,824 8,506

The above are eliminated on consolidation with the Group.

As at 30 June 2012 the Parent Company receivable for management fees was $2,500,000 (2011: Nil).

(c)  Compensation of key management 
The remuneration of directors and senior management during the year was as follows: 

GRoup pARent

 2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

SHORt tERM BENEFItS:
Directors fees 292 322 292 322
Senior management 2,886 2,524 660 778

Contribution to defined benefit schemes for senior management 16 48 11 9
Share based incentive scheme expensed during the year 71 - 71 -
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23. SHARE BASED INCENtIvE SCHEME
The Group has entered into an agreement with the Chief Executive to provide a long term share based incentive scheme. The scheme provides for the 
Chief Executive to convert 1,947,533 redeemable ordinary shares to fully paid ordinary shares, at a future date under the terms of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme Deed. The principal terms of the Deed are noted below.

The redeemable ordinary shares issued on grant date have been fair valued under the terms defined by NZ International Financial Reporting Standards 
NZ IFRS-2. The fair value determined is being recognised as an employee incentive scheme expense over the estimated vesting period.

(a) Recognised share based employee incentive scheme
The expense recognised for the Chief Executive’s Incentive Scheme is as follows:

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000

Amount at beginning of year - - - -
Share based incentive scheme expensed during the year 71 - 71 -

Amount at the end of year 71 - 71 -

(b) The share based incentive scheme
  The Chief Executive’s share based incentive scheme was established on 26 October 2011.

  The Scheme has the following attributes:

	 	 •	 	1,947,533	redeemable	ordinary	shares	have	been	issued	to	a	Trustee	to	hold	on	behalf	of	the	Chief	Executive.

	 	 •	 	The	Trustee	is	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	of	Skellerup	Holdings	Limited	and	acts	as	a	corporate	trustee.

	 	 •	 	The	Trustee	has	subscribed	for	the	1,947,533	redeemable	ordinary	shares	at	an	issue	price	of	$1.2534,	being	the	volume	weighted	average	
price for the 60 consecutive trading days prior to the date of issue.

	 	 •	 	The	redeemable	ordinary	shares	have	been	paid	to	1	cent.

	 	 •	 	The	redeemable	ordinary	shares	carry	only	a	fraction	of	the	voting	rights	that	would	be	exercised	if	the	shares	were	fully	paid	ordinary	shares.	
The fraction is equivalent to the proportion which is paid up to the total issue price.

	 	 •	 	The	redeemable	ordinary	shares	are	entitled	to	participate	in	any	distribution	of	surplus	assets	on	liquidation	to	the	extent	of	the	amount	paid	
up on the shares.

	 	 •	 	The	redeemable	ordinary	shares	are	not	eligible	for	dividends	or	other	distributions	until	fully	paid	up	and	transferred	from	the	Trustee	to	the	
Chief Executive.

	 	 •	 	The	redeemable	ordinary	shares	may	be	redeemed	at	the	option	of	the	Chief	Executive.	The	amount	payable	will	be	the	balance	of	the	issue	
price. The shares can only be redeemed after the 4th anniversary of the issue date, and only half the total shares issued can be redeemed 
before the 5th anniversary of the issue date. All the shares have to be redeemed by the 7th anniversary of the issue date.

	 	 •	 	When	the	redeemable	ordinary	shares	have	been	fully	paid	and	transferred	to	the	Chief	Executive,	the	shares	shall	convert	to	ordinary	shares	
and rank in all respects equally with the Group’s ordinary shares.

(c) Summary of shares issued under the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme

2012 2011

SHAReS VoluMe  
WeIGHteD pRICe

SHAReS

outstanding at the beginning of year - - -
Redeemable ordinary shares granted 1,947,533 1.2534 -

Outstanding at end of year 1,947,533 1.2534 -

(d) Vesting period
   The earliest date the shares can vest is 26 October 2015 with only 50% of the shares redeemable until 26 October 2016. All shares have to vest 

by 26 October 2018.

(e) Pricing model
   The redeemable ordinary shares have been fair valued using the Black-Scholes formulae. The fair value has been determined as $471,000.

   In arriving at this fair value the following factors have been used:

	 	 •	 	The	issue	price	at	26	October	2011	was	$1.2534.

	 	 •	 	The	shares	have	been	paid	to	1	cent.

	 	 •	 	The	risk	free	rate	is	3.5%	based	on	the	current	yield	on	NZ	Government	Bonds.

	 	 •	 	The	current	market	value	of	Skellerup	shares	is	$1.47.

	 	 •	 	The	volatility	has	been	assessed	at	30%	based	on	the	level	of	movements	in	the	Skellerup	share	price	and	comparable	companies.

	 	 •	 	A	dividend	yield	of	5%	has	been	applied.

	 	 •	 	The	time	to	vest	is	expected	to	be	50%	by	26	October	2015	and	50%	by	26	October	2016.
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24. lEASE COMMItMENtS 
Group as lessee 
Operating lease commitments 
The Group has entered into commercial leases on properties, motor vehicles, and plant.

The motor vehicle leases, and plant leases, have an average life between 1 and 4 years.

The property leases have a life ranging between 1 and 8 years. Some property leases have rights of renewal.

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 5,536 5,646 35 35

non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Within one year 4,890 4,366 - -
After one year but not more than five years 9,262 7,103 - -
After more than five years 1,727 1,917 - -

total minimum lease payments 15,879 13,386 - -

Finance leases 
The Group has entered into finance leases for motor vehicles. These leases have terms ranging from 1 to 3 years.

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Minimum future lease payments 227 388 - -
present value of future lease payments 210 343 - -

Reported as:
Current liability 102 94 - -
term liability 108 249 - -

Property, plant and equipment under finance leases 210 343 - -

Group as lessor 
The Group subleases surplus areas of leased properties.

Sublease arrangements range from short terms to 5 year periods.

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Rentals receivable recognised as Revenue 122 150 - -

Future rental receivable under lease contract terms is $564,860 (2011: $29,428).
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25. SEGMENt INFORMAtION 
The Group’s operating segments are Agri, Industrial and Corporate, being the divisions reported to the executive management and Board of Directors 
to assess performance of the Group and allocate resources.

The principal measure of performance for each segment is EBIT (earnings before interest and tax). As a result, finance costs and taxation have not 
been allocated to each segment.

AGRI SEGMENt
The Agri segment manufactures and distributes dairy rubberware which includes milking liners, tubing, filters and feeding teats, together with other 
related agricultural products and dairy vacuum pumps to global agricultural markets.

INDUStRIAl SEGMENt
The Industrial segment manufactures and distributes technical polymer products across a number of industrial markets, including construction, 
infrastructure, automotive, mining and general industrial, together with industrial vacuum pump equipment for a variety of industrial  
applications worldwide. 

CORPORAtE SEGMENt
The Corporate segment includes the parent company and other central administration expenses that have not been allocated to the Agri and 
Industrial segments. With the Group operating a central treasury function, finance costs and costs relating to fair value derivatives have been 
retained in the corporate segment.

BUSINESS SEGMENt ANAlYSIS

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 AGRI InDuStRIAl CoRpoRAte totAl

REvENUE
Sales to customers  74,116  133,075  122  207,313 

total revenue  74,116  133,075  122  207,313 
RESUlt

Segment EBIt  19,002  22,865  (5,273)  36,594 
net income from earthquake insurance claims  401 

profit before tax and finance costs  36,995 
less finance expenses  2,101 

profit before tax  34,894 
less taxation  10,229 

Net profit after tax  24,665 

ASSEtS AND lIABIlItIES
Segment assets  57,395  99,887  17,480  174,762 
Segment liabilities  11,416  16,124  25,850  53,390 

Net Assets  45,979  83,763  (8,370)  121,372 

OtHER SEGMENt INFORMAtION
Capital expenditure  3,880  3,693  72  7,645 
earthquakes: Impairment expense  -  -  -  - 
 other expenses  -  -  2,529  2,529 

CASH FlOw
Segment eBIt  19,002  22,865  (5,273)  36,594 
net income from earthquake insurance claims  -  -  401  401 
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation  2,726  4,010  330  7,066 
non cash items  -  -  (274)  (274)

Movement in working capital  (7,160)  (4,450)  5,483  (6,127)

Segment cash flow  14,568  22,425  667  37,660 
Finance and tax cash expense  (13,590)
Movement in finance & tax accrual  1,260 

Net cash flow from operating activities  25,330 
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BUSINESS SEGMENt ANAlYSIS

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 AGRI InDuStRIAl CoRpoRAte totAl

REvENUE
Sales to customers 68,990 124,453 150 193,593

total revenue 68,990 124,453 150 193,593
RESUlt

Segment EBIt 17,106 20,040 (4,919) 32,227
profit before tax and finance costs 32,227
less finance expenses 2,667

profit before tax 29,560
less taxation 9,360

Net profit after tax 20,200

ASSEtS AND lIABIlItIES
Segment assets 48,029 101,870 24,032 173,931
Segment liabilities 10,194 20,673 32,739 63,606

Net Assets 37,835 81,197 (8,707) 110,325

OtHER SEGMENt INFORMAtION
Capital expenditure 4,410 3,195 101 7,706
earthquakes: Impairment expense - - 1,420 1,420
 other expenses - - 2,712 2,712

CASH FlOw
Segment eBIt 17,106 20,040 (4,919) 32,227
Adjustments for: 2,634 4,212 445 7,291

Depreciation and amortisation
Impaired assets - - 1,420 1,420
non cash items - - (283) (283)

Movement in working capital 3,860 751 (2,217) 2,394

Segment cash flow 23,600 25,003 (5,554) 43,049
Finance and tax cash expense (8,569)
Movement in finance & tax accrual (3,458)

Net cash flow from operating activities 31,022

MAJOR CUStOMERS
The Agri and Industrial segments generate revenue from a diverse number of customers.

For the Agri segment the three largest customers account for 30.1% (2011: 25.6%) of the Agri segment revenue.

For the Industrial segment, the three largest customers account for 8.4% (2011: 11.4%) of the Industrial segment revenue. 

INtER SEGMENt REvENUE
Intra segment transfer prices are set on an arm’s length basis. Such intra segment revenue for the year was $3.331 million (2011: $3.903 million) 
and relates to a range of Vacuum Pumps which the Industrial segment manufactures and transfers to the Agri segment to fulfill the sales demand 
for Agri customers.

Inter segment revenue and expenses within each segment are eliminated prior to disclosing the consolidated result for the individual segment.

25. SEGMENt INFORMAtION (continued)
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SEGMENt REvENUE RECONCIlIAtION
(a) Inter/Intra Segment Revenue

AGRI InDuStRIAl CoRpoRAte elIM. totAl 

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

GROSS REvENUE  90,789  156,736  -  (40,334)  207,191 
less inter segment revenue  (16,673)  (20,330)  -  37,003  - 
less intra segment revenue  -  (3,331)  -  3,331  - 
other revenue  -  -  122  -  122 

total revenue  74,116  133,075  122  -  207,313

AGRI InDuStRIAl CoRpoRAte elIM. totAl 

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

GROSS REvENUE 83,684 142,659 - (32,900) 193,443
less inter segment revenue (14,694) (14,303) - 28,997 -
less intra segment revenue - (3,903) - 3,903 -
other revenue - - 150 - 150

total revenue 68,990 124,453 150 - 193,593

(b) Geographic Revenue
Revenue from external customers by geographical locations is detailed below. Revenue is attributed to each geographic location based on the location 
of the customers. Differences in foreign currency translation rates can impact comparisons between years, particularly with the USD, EUR and GBP, 
where these currencies can revalue significantly against the NZD.

2012 2011

$000 $000 

new Zealand 50,556 47,201
Australia 61,155 56,085
north America 48,374 43,145
europe 21,793 24,666
u.K. & Ireland 13,237 11,833
Asia 8,988 7,457
other 3,210 3,206

total revenue 207,313 193,593

(c) Assets by Geographic Location
The non current segment assets are scheduled by the geographic location where the asset is held.

The non current assets, which include property plant & equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and investments & advances, for each geographic 
location is as follows:

2012 2011

$000 $000 

new Zealand 42,852 42,305
Australia 16,360 17,519
europe 14,411 15,901
u.K. 7,978 7,352
China 3,830 3,997
north America 1,165 478

Non current assets by geographic location 86,596 87,552

25. SEGMENt INFORMAtION (continued)

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
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26. CASH FlOw RECONCIlIAtION 
Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cashflow from operations

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

NEt PROFIt AFtER tAx  24,665  20,200  8,177  5,740 
Adjustments for:

Depreciation  6,141  6,411  2  1 
Amortisation  925  880  -  - 
loss on sale of assets  26  80  -  - 
Impaired assets  -  1,420  -  - 
Foreign currency movements on translating foreign assets and 
liabilities  (332)  (409)  -  - 
Bad debts written off  32  37  -  - 
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges charged to Income 
Statement  -  9  -  - 
net movement in working capital  (6,127)  2,394  (1,492)  108 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  25,330  31,022  6,687  5,849 

27. CONtINGENt ASSEtS AND lIABIlItIES 
(a)  Contingent Assets
The insurance proceeds relating to the earthquake damaged buildings cannot be reliably estimated. 
As a result the contingent asset cannot be quantified (refer Note 28 for details).

(b) Contingent Liabilities

GRoup pARent

2012 2011 2012 2011

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Bank guarantee provided to the nZ exchange 75 75 75 75

total contingent liabilities 75 75 75 75

Customer Claim
The Group has received a claim from a customer alleging that a product supplied is not fit for purpose. Independent engineering reports and product 
specialists have indicated that the claim has no validity. The amount and timing of the liability, if any, is uncertain. 

28. CANtERBURY EARtHqUAkES
Negotiations continue with insurers over settlement of claims relating to material damage and business interruption resulting from the 
Canterbury earthquakes.

The following entries have been recognised in the Group Financial Statements:

2012 2011

INCOME StAtEMENt $000 $000 

Recoveries under insurance policy
total expenditure claimable 2,529 2,712

Building damage claim - 1,420
total indemnity value of buildings 1,821 -
less prior year recognition 1,420 -

401 1,420

total sundry income from insurance claims 2,930 4,132

less claimable expenditure incurred 2,529 4,132

Net income from earthquake insurance claims 401 -
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opeRAtInG 
eXpenDItuRe

BuIlDInG 
eXpenDItuRe

totAl

BAlANCE SHEEt $000 $000 $000 

Receivable as at 30 June 2010 - - -

plus expenditure incurred  2,785  -  2,785 
plus accelerated depreciation on buildings  -  1,420  1,420 
less deductible expenses not recoverable  (73)  -  (73)
less interim receipts received  (1,414)  -  (1,414)

Receivable as at 30 June 2011  1,298  1,420  2,718 

plus expenditure incurred  2,677  -  2,677 
less deductible expenses not recoverable  (148)  -  (148)
plus declared income on buildings  -  401  401 
less interim receipts received  (2,000)  (5,217)  (7,217)

Receivable/(payable) as at 30 June 2012  1,827  (3,396)  (1,569)

Total increased cost of working and business interruption expenditure is $5,461,355 since the earthquakes commenced. This value has been 
recognised through the Income Statement as expenditure incurred as well as sundry income, being claimable under our insurance policies. For the year 
ending June 2012 expenditure of $2,676,912 has been recognised, while $2,784,443 was recorded in the prior year.

In relation to the expenditure incurred in the current year, deductible expenditure not recoverable under the insurance policies totaling $147,951 
(2011: $73,000), has been expensed as administration expenses and cost of sales.

For the damaged company-owned buildings, the indemnity value of the buildings totaling $1,821,700 has been recognised as sundry income through 
the Income Statement. For the year ended 30 June 2012, $401,447 has been recognised, while $1,420,253 was recorded in the previous year. 
The company-owned buildings were fully impaired in the June 2011 year.

The insurers have made provisional cash settlements totaling $8,631,141 (excluding GST), of which $7,217,391 has been received during the 
June 2012 year.

These provisional cash settlements are being made by the insurers as interim payments pending ongoing negotiations with loss adjustors on 
acceptance of the insurance claims lodged with the underwriters.

The insurance claim values which can be reliably measured with virtual certainty have been brought to account in the Income Statement and Balance 
Sheet at 30 June 2012. Additional insurance claim values, particularly relating to the damaged company-owned buildings, will be brought to account 
when the total claim for material damage can be reliably measured with virtual certainty.

Negotiations are continuing with the insurers to progress the insurance claim relating to the company owned buildings being replaced, including the 
relocation of the existing Woolston manufacturing operation to a new location within Christchurch.

To facilitate this relocation, a new state of the art rubber mixing plant has been purchased, subsequent to year end, to ensure the business operation 
can relocate without interruption to the production of quality polymer/rubber compounds.

Additional benefits of the new plant will include operational efficiencies and improved product quality as well as the elimination of the risks to the 
business associated with relying on outdated technologies and the risk of failure in moving old plant.

29. SIGNIFICANt EvENtS AFtER BAlANCE DAtE
The directors have agreed to pay a final dividend fully imputed, of 5.0 cents per share on 25 October 2012, to shareholders on the register at 5pm 
on 12 October 2012.

There are no other events subsequent to balance date that require additional disclosure.

28. CANtERBURY EARtHqUAkES (continued)

Notes to the FiNaNcial statemeNts
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DIRECtORS
(a) Directors holding office during the year
Sir Selwyn Cushing (Non-Executive) 

Elizabeth Coutts (Independent)

David Mair (Chief Executive)

John Thompson (Non-Executive) – resigned 21 October 2011

Dr Ian Parton (Independent) 

(b) Directors’ Remuneration and Other Benefits
Directors’ remuneration and other benefits required to be disclosed pursuant to section 211(1) of the Companies Act 1993 for the year ended 
30 June 2012 were as follows:

GRoup AnD pARent

2012 2011

$000 $000 

Sir Selwyn Cushing 130 130
elizabeth Coutts 75 75
John thompson 22 65
Dr Ian parton 65 8
David Mair - 4

total directors fees 292 282

David Mair  – Salary and contributions to defined benefit schemes paid 550 452
 – Short term incentive scheme payment accrued but not paid at 30 June 2012 207 -
 – Share based incentive scheme expense (note 23) 71 -

EMPlOYEE REMUNERAtION
The number of employees whose remuneration and benefits are within defined bands are as follows:

ReMuneRAtIon  
RAnGe

no. oF  
eMployeeS

ReMuneRAtIon  
RAnGe

no. oF  
eMployeeS

ReMuneRAtIon  
RAnGe

no. oF  
eMployeeS

$000 $000 $000

100-109 12 180-189 5 290-299 2 
110-119 10 190-199 4 300-309 1 
120-129 16 200-209 2 320-329 1 
130-139 11 210-219 3 330-339 1 
140-149 1 220-229 1 360-369 1 
150-159 6 230-239 3 370-379 1 
160-169 3 240-249 1 400-409 2 
170-179 4 250-259 2 550-559 1 

610-619 1 

The above includes salaries, benefits and performance incentive payments paid during the year. Executives based in foreign subsidiaries have been 
included in the above analysis in New Zealand dollars which have been converted at exchange rates ruling at 30 June 2012.

other Annual  
Report Disclosures 

71
SKELLERUP AnnUAL REPoRt 2012



StAtEMENt OF DIRECtORS’ SHAREHOlDINGS 
Directors held the following equity securities in the Company

non BeneFICIAl 
InteReSt 

HelD BeneFICIAlly HelD By ASSoCIAteD 
peRSonS

30 June 2012 30 June 2012 30 June 2012

Sir Selwyn Cushing 1,400,000 12,173,826
elizabeth Coutts 571,960
David Mair 2,427,506
Dr Ian parton 70,000

During the year the following directors (or associated persons) acquired or disposed of equity securities in the Company 

nuMBeR oF SHAReS 
ACQuIReD

ClASS oF  
SHAReS

ConSIDeRAtIon 
pAID

DAte oF 
tRAnSACtIon

elizabeth Coutts 10,000 ordinary 13,400 11/11/2011
Dr Ian parton 10,000 " 12,400 30/09/2011
  " 10,000 " 13,600 18/11/2011
  " 30,000 " 43,000 5/04/2012

SHAREHOlDER INFORMAtION 
Substantial Security Holders 
Pursuant to Section 26 of the Securities Amendment Act 1988, the substantial security holders as at 4 September 2012 were as follows:

AMp Capital Investors limited 36,584,952 18.98%
Accident Compensation Corporation 17,998,557 9.34%
Sir Selwyn Cushing 12,173,826 6.31%
nZ Superannuation Fund nominees limited 10,017,152 5.20%

Shareholder  
Information 

otHeR AnnuAl RepoRt DISCloSuReS
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Principal Shareholders 
The names and holdings of the twenty largest registered shareholders as at 4 September 2012

1 AMp Investments Strategic equity Growth Fund 19,119,266 9.92%
2 Accident Compensation Corporation 17,998,557 9.34%
3 H & G limited 10,616,169 5.51%
4 n Z Superannuation Fund nominees limited 10,184,007 5.28%
5 nZGt nominees limited - AIF equity Fund 9,437,584 4.89%
6 Custody and Investment nominees limited 6,024,678 3.12%
7 teA Custodians limited 5,344,466 2.77%
8 new Zealand permanent trustees limited 4,010,000 2.08%
9 S K Shares limited 3,877,486 2.01%

10 Superlife trustee nominees limited 3,084,836 1.60%
11 Forsyth Barr Custodians limited 2,882,919 1.50%
12 David William Mair and John Gordon phipps 2,427,506 1.26%
13 Maxima Investments limited 2,000,000 1.04%
14 JpMorgan Chase Bank nA 1,814,776 0.94%
15 national nominees new Zealand limited 1,756,549 0.91%
16 Citibank nominees (new Zealand) limited 1,723,765 0.89%
17 Custodial Services limited 1,644,856 0.85%
18 Forsyth Barr Custodians limited 1,545,044 0.80%
19 Seajay Securities limited 1,457,642 0.76%
20 pGG Wrightson employee Benefits plan limited 1,400,000 0.73%

108,339,387 56.19%

total Shares on issue 192,805,807

Distribution of Shareholding as at 4 September 2012

SIZE OF SHAREHOlDING nuMBeR oF 
SHAReHolDeRS

% oF 
SHAReHolDeRS

nuMBeR oF 
SHAReS

%

1 - 4,999 1,595 33.48 4,270,118 2.22
5,000 - 9,999 1,204 25.27 8,217,020 4.26
10,000 - 49,999 1,692 35.52 32,643,756 16.93
50,000 - 99,999 151 3.18 10,207,854 5.29
100,000 - 499,999 84 1.76 14,519,880 7.53
500,000 - 999,999 14 0.29 9,579,498 4.97
1,000,000 and over 24 0.50 113,367,681 58.80

totals 4,764 100 192,805,807 100
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notice of  
Annual Meeting

Jim Greenwood
Company Secretary

Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 
Skellerup Holdings limited will be held in the South Stand at Eden Park, 
Reimers Avenue, Auckland on wednesday, 31 October 2012 at 2.30 p.m.

BUSINESS
1.  To receive and consider the annual report, including the financial statements for the year ended 

30 June 2012 and the report of the auditors thereon.

2.  To re-elect one director.

  In accordance with Clause 26.1 of the Company’s Constitution Mrs Elizabeth Coutts retires 
by rotation and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election.

3.  To authorise the directors to fix the remuneration of the auditor for the ensuing year.

PROxIES
Any shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may instead appoint a proxy 
to attend and vote on their behalf. The Chairman of the Company is willing to act as proxy for 
any shareholder who may wish to appoint him for that purpose The Chairman intends to vote any 
undirected proxies in favour of the resolutions.

If you wish to appoint a proxy please complete the enclosed proxy form and mail to:

Computershare Investor Services limited  
Private Bag 92119  
AUCklAND 1142

Alternatively you can complete a proxy form online at www.investorvote.co.nz.  
You will need your CSN/security holder number and FIN to vote on line.

In either case, for your vote to be effective, it must be received not less than  
48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

NOtE
Refreshments will be served at the conclusion of the meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board

Auckland  
21 September 2012

notICe oF AnnuAl MeetInG
74



Corporate  
Directory

DIRECtORS
Sir Selwyn Cushing, KNZM, CMG  
CHAIRMAN

E.M. Coutts, B.M.S., C.A.

D.W. Mair, BE, M.B.A.

I.M. Parton, BE(Hons), Ph.D, DistFIPENZ, FIoD

MANAGEMENt
D.W. Mair, BE, M.B.A.  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

G.P. Keogh, C.A.  
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

J.H. Greenwood, B.Com., F.C.A.  
COMPANY SECRETARY

REGIStERED OFFICE
1–37 Mt Wellington Highway  
Mt Wellington  
Auckland  
New Zealand

PO Box 14-537  
Panmure  
Auckland 1741  
New Zealand

Telephone +64 9 571 1208  
Email info@skellerupholdings.co.nz  
Website www.skellerupholdings.co.nz

 

lEGAl ADvISORS
Chapman Tripp  
23-29 Albert Street  
Auckland  
New Zealand

BANkERS
ANZ National Bank Limited  
23-29 Albert Street  
Auckland  
New Zealand

AUDItORS
Ernst & Young  
2 Takutai Square  
Britomart  
Auckland  
New Zealand 1010

SHARE REGIStRAR
Computershare Investor Services Limited  
Private Bag 92119  
Auckland 1142  
159 Hurstmere Road  
Takapuna, North Shore City 0622  
New Zealand

Managing Your Shareholding Online:
To change your address, update your payment 
instructions and to view your investment portfolio 
including transactions, please visit;

www.computershare.co.nz/investorcentre

General enquiries can be directed to;
enquiry@computershare.co.nz 
Private Bag 92119, Auckland 1142  
Telephone +64 9 488 8777  
Facsimile +64 9 488 8787

Please assist our registrar by quoting your  
CSN or shareholder number.
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REGIStERED OFFICE 
Skellerup Holdings Limited 
1–37 Mt Wellington Highway 
Mt Wellington

PO Box 14-537, Panmure 
Auckland 1741, New Zealand

Telephone: +64 9 571 1208 
Facsimile: +64 9 571 5896 
Email: info@skellerupholdings.co.nz 
Website: www.skellerupholdings.co.nz


